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The Hong Kong Housing Authority

The Hong Kong Housing Authority (HA) is a statutory body
established in April 1973 under the Housing Ordinance. It
develops and implements a public housing programme
which seeks to achieve the Government's policy objective of
meeting the housing needs of low-income families that cannot
afford private accommodation.

HA plans, builds, manages and maintains different types of
public housing, including rental housing, interim housing
and transit centres. We also build and arrange sale of Home
Ownership Scheme flats and Green Form Subsidised Home
Ownership Scheme flats, and carry out the White Form
Secondary Market Scheme. In addition, we own and operate
a number of flatted factories and ancillary commercial and
other non-domestic facilities.

HA has 4 official members and 20 non-official members,
who are appointed by the Chief Executive. The Secretary for
Housing is appointed Chairman of HA. The Director of
Housing serves as the Vice-Chairman.

Six standing committees have been formed under HA to
formulate, administer and oversee policies in specified areas.
Sub-Committees and ad hoc committees are also formed on a
need basis. The Housing Department serves as HA's executive
arm and is headed by the Permanent Secretary for Housing,
who also assumes the office of the Director of Housing.
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Ballots were drawn for the

Hong Kong Housing Authority
(HA)s Sale of Green Form
Subsidised Home Ownership
Scheme (GSH) Flats 2023. The
Chairman of HASs Subsidised
Housing Committee (SHC),
Ms Cleresa Wong (left), officiated
at the ballot drawing.
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SHC endorsed measures to enhance
the Marking Scheme for Estate
Management Enforcement in Public
Housing Estates, which took effect in
December.

Bl B 1) 28 5 IS
AT

FEEHHTHE-AER] 8
EETESREFRHESRMAMN -
XFMEMERAXEE FEERRE
REZGIFMKE (h) MKERE
EREENERRFEEZZERAERM
(F) 2msE TAAR ] BE [RER
BIEREE A -

The Well Being * Start-Up Programme
was launched to support young
people in pursuit of entrepreneurial
dreams through offering shop
premises in HA's shopping centres
rent-free. The Secretary for Housing /
HA Chairman, Ms Winnie Ho (centre),
and the then Permanent Secretary
for Housing / Director of Housing,
Miss Rosanna Law (right), attended
the Dialogue with Star Entrepreneurs
event at Domain in Yau Tong.
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SHC endorsed a proposal for expanding
the scope of Vacant Flat Refurbishment
Allowance to all vacant units. An
allowance equivalent to a standard
three-month rent will be provided for
prospective participating tenants.
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Serving as a reference for future design
of new public housing estates and
improvement works to existing estates,
a resident-oriented Well-Being Design
Guide was released to provide over 50
strategies and 170 design suggestions
derived from eight well-being concepts.
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Celebrating the 75™ anniversary of
the People’s Republic of China, HA
organised a series of events to share
the joy with the public, including
the National Day 75™ Anniversary@
Domain.

Another celebratory event for the
public was the “Well-Being in Public
Housing” National Day Photo Contest

which attracted over 1 000 entries.
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The Start-Up KEY Day event of the
Well Being * Start-Up Programme
announced the list of successful
applicants and launched a shop key

handover ceremony at Domain.
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The Housing Hub, the HASs new
discovery centre, at Domain was open
to the public for learning more about

public housing development through
interactive exhibits.
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HA announced the advanced
schedule for clearance and rehousing
for redevelopment of Wah Fu Estate
Phase 3 and the schedule for clearance
and rehousing arrangements for Choi
Hung Estate Phase 1 redevelopment.
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Ballots were drawn for the HA's Sale
of Home Ownership Scheme (HOS)
Flats 2024. The SHC Chairman, Ms

Cleresa Wong, officiated at the ballot
drawing.
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The Report Public Housing Abuse

Award was launched to strengthen
efforts in combating tenancy abuse.
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HA launched enhancements in the
sales arrangements for Subsidised
Sale Flats (SSFs) to encourage
young people to achieve home
ownership, including new Youth
Schemes for the White Form
Secondary Market Scheme and
for HOS.
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SHC endorsed the extension of the
response period for public rental
housing (PRH) elderly residents
joining the Portable Social Security
Schemes who opt to retire in the
Mainland from three months to six
months for the surrender of PRH
flats or deletion of their names from
PRH tenancies.
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The Well-off Tenants Policies
were strengthened by raising the
additional rent of well-off tenants and
adjusting the threshold for vacating
PRH flats, to expedite the circulation
of PRH flats and encourage upward
mobility of well-off tenants.

2024/25 FERNAE/ SERRREE (RIEFH)

PRH/GSH projects completed in 2024/25 (in chronological order)

e E 36 R EME
Fanling Area 36 Phase 4

BB
Hin Fat Lane

B HsE+ 5
Pak Tin Phase 10

FHERE — 5
Yip Wong Road Phase 2

AP E N
Lei Yue Mun Phase 4

RBE VR
Tung Chung Area 99

BB

Ching Tao Court

FEETD
Hin Fat Estate

HH%B
Pak Tin Estate

E 3
Yip Wong Estate

S~
Ko Wang Court

R

Cheung Tung Estate

757858 Ching Tao Court

FEZEE Hin Fat House

HHE Nga Tin House

¥4 Yip Sin House
X124 Yip Tak House
¥ %2 Yip Tsz House

it

243 Ko Lai House
=ER Ko Yin House

0

=

F1H# Cheung Yat House
A Cheung Yuet House
FE# Cheung Sing House
#®# Cheung Fai House

2024/25 FEMNEMBE L ERMBRIER (REFH)

Other SSFs projects completed in 2024/25 (in chronological order)

e i
Chiu Shun Road

=B
Ko Shan Road

Bf{E2B2 T ity
Kai Tak Site 2B2

2 ER B ARG R2-7 Ti
Anderson Road Quarry
Site R2-7

ZERBABSRS-1 it
Anderson Road Quarry
Site RS-1

EE
Hang Fu Street

7EREARES R2-5 T
Anderson Road Quarry
Site R2-5

2 ER B A% R2-6 T
Anderson Road Quarry
Site R2-6

2E R B AT R2-8 ity
Anderson Road Quarry
Site R2-8

B1E 2B6 T3t
Kai Tak Site 2B6

fREA%E
Chiu Ming Court

B3

Kwun Shan Court

RRR3E,
Kai Yan Court

L5,
On Pak Court

LK,
On Sau Court

K258
Siu Tsui Court

75
On Ying Court

LHEGE,
On Wah Court

=R,
On Lai Court

BUR 8
Kai Yuet Court

FAEA%E Chiu Ming Court

73158 Kwun Shan Court

RUBEME Kai Yun House
RUARE Kai Tim House

#1435 On Pak Court

ZH#EE On Kit House
Z{&# On Chun House

JKBRES Siu Ying House
JKEER Siu Ching House

Z 5 On Hung House
ZmE On Mun House

# On Yin House
B On Tak House

ZH M On Sing House
ZfBE On Yuk House
Z 2% On Man House

R4 R Kai Fung House
B#ER Kai Wah House

776 BRI units

872 fEE L units

924 &AL units

2 604 fE 4L units

2 021 &AL units

4 560 & E {7 units

594 & & {7 units

495 B A7 units

1 8401 & (7 units

420 E AL units

1 906 fE & {7 units

518 &z units

1 140fE &7 units

990 {E B fiZ units

1 3801 & units

2 046 fE AL units
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The theme of this 2024/25 annual report of the Hong Kong Housing
Authority (HA) reflects two of our key priorities across the year:
“Enhance Living Quality” and "Optimise Housing Resources”.

“Enhance Living Quality” no doubt denotes our commitment
to making life better for everyone who lives in our public rental
housing (PRH) or subsidised sale flats (SSFs), whether through
improved design, the use of new technology, major redevelopment
initiatives, or other enhancements. The other policy, “Optimise
Housing Resources”, refers not only to our work to enhance the
quantity, speed, efficiency and quality for meeting the Government'’s
housing targets, but also to our relentless efforts in combating
tenancy abuse in PRH, safeguarding the rational use of public
housing resources, and encouraging the public to move up the
housing ladder.

HA's drive to enhance living quality was given an extra boost in
September 2024, when we launched a Well-Being Design Guide
which provides practical guidelines for enhancing the living quality
of residents of public housing developments. We have already
begun promoting and applying its core well-being principles
through various initiatives. Chapter 2 describes some of the major
technology solutions being implemented across HA's construction
process, solutions that are optimising our housing quality, improving
safety, and significantly expediting our construction timetables.
Rapid advancement in technology is bringing transformation to
all walks of life, offering exceptional potential for enhancing living
quality, especially through its application to our construction and
estate management activities.

The living quality of our elderly residents is a matter of special
concern for HA. Our Feature Story in Chapter 3 outlines several
initiatives underway to ensure that our cherished elderly tenants can
live out their golden years in a comfortable and caring environment.

HA's two major redevelopment projects, at Wah Fu Estate and
Choi Hung Estate, are excellent examples of the synergy between
“enhancing living quality” and “optimising housing resources”. The
proposed redevelopments will significantly increase the number of
flats at each location, bolstering our overall housing reserve. At the
same time, by replacing these aged estates with modern, thoughtfully-
designed estates in line with the Well-Being Design Guide, we will
create a bright, accessible and user-friendly living environment that
fosters a sense of home and promotes community pride.
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Chairman’s Message

During the year, a key highlight has definitely been our efforts
to optimise our housing resources by further stamping out
the blight of tenancy abuse to ensure that our precious public
housing resources are only provided to those in genuine need.
Our newly introduced Report Public Housing Abuse Award
mobilises public support for the cause, bringing us important
new sources of information in our efforts to track down abusers.
While we tightened up the Well-off Tenants Policies by raising
the additional rent for well-off tenants and adjusting the
threshold for vacating PRH flats, we also introduced measures
to encourage their upward mobility, e.g. allowing well-off
tenants who are paying additional rents to retain their Green
Form status for four years after voluntarily moving out from
their flats. We also enhanced the sales arrangements for SSFs
to encourage young people to achieve home ownership and
increase the chance of successful purchase by SSF applicants
who have made repeated attempts.

By adopting a multi-pronged approach and coupled with the
Government's pledge to provide 30 000 Light Public Housing
(LPH) units, the target to shorten the Composite Waiting Time
for Subsidised Rental Housing (CWT) to about 4.5 years by
2026/27 is well on schedule. As at March 2025, the CWT has
decreased to 5.3 years. With the completion of LPH and new PRH
flats next year, it is anticipated that the CWT would continue
to drop. Relevant details and information on other policies on
PRH application, allocation and SSFs can be found in Chapter 1.

The above is a brief summary of what we have done to deliver
under these two themes over the past year across multiple
aspects of our work. We are proud to be working to enhance
the living environment for millions of residents, and optimising
our precious housing resources for those who have genuine
need. Through this work, we are helping to create a stronger,
more vibrant and dynamic Hong Kong, and embracing the
future with confidence.

Winnie Ho, Jp
Chairman of HA
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Throughout the year, the Building Committee (BC) made a
commendable effort in advancing the planning, design and
construction of public housing. Against the public housing supply
target under the Long Term Housing Strategy, BC has undertaken
several new initiatives that have been instrumental in propelling
us towards achievement.

HA continues to adopt the Design-and-Build (D&B) procurement
model in suitable projects to address the increasing volume of
housing production. In 2024/25, BC approved the scheme design
and project budget for the Public Housing Developments (PHD)
at Areas 13, 14 and 15 West of Fanling North New Development
Area and Near Tan Kwai Tsuen Phases 1, 2 and 3, and the revised
project budgets for PHD at Fanling Area 48 and Choi Shun Street
to facilitate their adoption of D&B procurement model. We will
continue to do so in the coming years.

In September 2024, the HA launched the Well-Being Design Guide,
since then its principles have begun integrating into the planning
and design of public housing projects. This guide serves as a
foundation for HA's commitment to creating sustainable, green,
healthy, and affordable quality homes. Since then, we have seen
positive momentum in adopting the design guide across new
public housing developments, reinforcing the focus on holistic
living environments that support the physical, mental and social
well-being of residents, and promote community integration.

Faced with the challenge of high construction targets in the current
operating environment, HA have proactively implemented labour-
saving design and efficient construction methods, innovative
technologies such as Modular Integrated Construction (MiC),
off-site prefabrication and construction robotics to enhance the
quantity, speed, efficiency and quality of public housing supply.
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In 2024/25, HA developed an innovative coupling technology in
collaboration with a local research institute for applying in second-
generation MiC system; and has progressively implemented the
Project Information Management and Analytics Platform (HA-PIMAP)
in five active construction sites. Independent Checking Unit have
made use of Artificial Intelligence (Al) technology to meet the
challenges posed by the substantial increase in public housing
development projects. Following the successful development and
launch of HeCheck, which improved the efficiency and accuracy
of checking construction materials test reports, a knowledge
management system using Al technology is being developed to
enhance the efficiency of collecting and retrieving knowledge
and experience in building control.

In addition to collaboration with various departments to expedite
the development of new lands for housing units, redevelopment
of HA's Factory Estates, namely Sui Fai, Yip On, Wang Cheong and
Kwai On, were proceeding at full steam this year. For redevelopment
of aged estates, which BC has examined and approved project
budgets and design schemes of their respective rehousing
resources including Sai Wan Estate, Ma Tau Wai Estate, Wah Fu
Estate and Choi Hung Estate, all of them are underway with the
interest of public and stakeholders at the forefront of our planning
and design considerations.

HA attaches great importance to construction site safety. In
2024/25, we continued to collaborate with industry stakeholders
to enhance site safety measures, including the use of metal
scaffolding, wider implementation of the Smart Site Safety System
(4S). These efforts aimed to promote site safety and share best
practices with contract teams and frontline workers, thereby
reinforcing their safety awareness.

I sincerely thank all BC Members and staff of HA for their valuable
contribution and unwavering support to the work of BC, and
would like to extend my deep gratitude to all Chairmen and
Committees in delivering HA's business with core values in hands
during the year.
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In the past year, the Commercial Properties Committee (CPC)
continued to oversee the smooth operation of commercial and
other non-domestic facilities of HA.

To complement Government’s policy on youth development
and to encourage and support young people in pursuing their
entrepreneurial dreams, HA launched the “Well Being * Start-Up”
Programme in its shopping centres in July 2024, providing young
people with a low-risk platform for starting a business. Through
offering rent-free shop premises initially, the programme lowers
the barriers to entrepreneurship, promotes youth entrepreneurship
and injects new vitality and innovation into the community and
it has garnered significant support from across various sectors.

In the past year, the overall vacancy rate of HA's retail facilities
had increased due to changes in Hong Kong's retail consumption
patterns, including the growing popularity of cross-border shopping
and online shopping. By adopting flexible and comprehensive
leasing strategies to address these challenges, the overall vacancy
rate notably declined to 3.28% in March 2025, and compared
with that of about 6-8% in the private sector in the past year, the
leasing status of HA's commercial premises outperformed market
benchmarks. This reflects that HA's retail facilities, which offer a
stable business environment and customer base, are still widely
popular among tenants despite the sluggishness of the local retail
market and changes in consumption patterns.

HA launched various diversified and consumption-stimulating
programmes from time to time such as providing parking
privileges for consumption at HA's shopping centres, markets
and restaurants, introducing cash coupon redemption based on
points earned by spending through the membership schemes of
individual shopping centres. To enhance patronage and boost
local spending, we also organised different types of trendy
publicity and promotional activities in our shopping centres and
markets during major festivals and special occasions, such as the
elderly fashion show, “Dream on Stage” finals and the large-scale
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indoor drone light show to celebrate the 75t" National Day; the
photo spots and decorations themed around healing pandas for
Christmas and Lunar New Year.

As at the end of March 2025, HA had a portfolio of about 205
carparks, providing about 35 100 parking spaces with an overall
occupancy rate of 97.3%. Carpark charges are reviewed annually
to bring HA's carpark charges comparable to the market levels
and maintain HA's financial stability. In November 2024, CPC
endorsed a mild increase in the carpark charges for all types of
parking spaces in 2025. In addition, to meet the community’s
growing demand for parking spaces, HA proactively created a
total of 430 parking spaces in about 50 existing carparks as at
March 2025, including about 200 private car parking spaces,
about 210 motorcycle parking spaces and about 20 light goods
vehicle parking spaces.

HA has introduced electric vehicles (EV) charging fee for medium
chargers in hourly parking spaces in its carparks since April 2024
to tie in with the Government's initiative to marketise EV charging
services and promote the sustainable development of EV charging
services in the long run. Charging fees are also reviewed annually,
CPC completed the first review in November 2024. Starting from
2025, the time of each charging session is adjusted from one hour
to 30 minutes so as to provide EV users with greater flexibility to
choose the charging time according to their actual need and to
enable more efficient use of the medium chargers.

To complement the Government's policy to promote wider use of
EVs, and to further improve the coverage of charging facilities, HA
has been providing additional medium charging facilities at private
car parking spaces in phases and completed the installation of
about 3000 additional medium chargers and charging-enabling
facilities in 2024. As at the end of March 2025, about 3 810 private
car parking spaces under HA were equipped with EV chargers, of
which about 2 920 were monthly parking spaces and about 890
were hourly parking spaces.

As Chairman of CPC, | extend my gratitude to all members for
their valuable contributions and unwavering support, as well as
colleagues of HA for their hard work and dedication in the past year.
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During the year, the Finance Committee (FC) dealt with a number
of major corporate matters, from budgeting and financial
forecasts, to human resources management and information
technology.

Same as last year, the highlight of FC's annual work is the 2024/25
Budget and Financial Forecasts. As in the past, FC examined
meticulously the five-year income and expenditure estimates,
from budget assumptions to strategic assessment of HA's long-
term financial position. Again | conducted a media briefing on
details of the 2025/26 Budget and the updated financial forecasts
up to 2028/29. No doubt HA continues to face the challenges in
coping with the rising construction expenditure for meeting the
Government's pledge for the 10-year flat production target of
308 000 units up to 2034/35. No doubt, there was concern
about the continuous rise in construction cost among FC or
HA members.

We continue to make every effort to secure all manpower
resources available to underpin the work of HA, including
contract staff and body-shopped personnel. In respect of
the annual pay review for HA Contract Staff, FC approved in
September 2024 an annual pay rise from 3.54% to 3.81% for
HA Contract Staff in 2024/25. Following the announcement
of various financial austerity measures in the 2025/26 Budget
Speech, FC decided swiftly in late March 2025 to implement a
pay freeze for HA Contract Staff for 2025/26.

On information technology development, HA continued to
step up efforts to promote digitalisation in both its operation
and public services. In particular, we support more e-payment
options using the Faster Payment System (FPS), and other
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Annual Statements by Committee Chairmen

electronic wallets such as AlipayHK, WeChat Pay, PayMe and
Tap & Go. FPS was also introduced for e-markets in handling
HA's payments to contractors and service providers to replace
the use of cheques. As part of smart estate management, we
have developed a pilot mobile system for enhancing daily patrol
duties by security staff in 10 selected pilot public rental housing
estates, two shopping centres and a carpark.

As at end-March 2025, HA's Cash and Investment Balance stood
at around $63.8 billion. Funds Management Sub-Committee
(FMSC) established under the FC continued to meet on a
quarterly basis to monitor closely HA's fund management
operation, including the performance of HA's fund managers
for its equity portfolio. HA's placements with the Exchange Fund
remained the largest asset class in value. Amidst a turbulent
investment environment in the local and global markets, the
equity fund managers achieved a reasonable return.

In closing, | would like to extend my gratitude to all members
of FC and FMSC for their unfailing support and invaluable
contributions, as well as staff of HA, for another year of hard
work to ensure appropriate and timely corporate services
support are in place to underpin HA's business.

Dr Billy MAK Sui-choi, MH

Chairman of Finance Committee and

Funds Management Sub-Committee
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HA has been striving to provide affordable rental housing to low-income
families with housing needs, and helping low to middle-income families
gain access to subsidised home ownership. We need to ensure our housing
policies are kept abreast of the times. During the year, the Subsidised
Housing Committee (SHC) endorsed a number of major initiatives to
enhance the allocation, management and maintenance of public rental
housing (PRH) flats, cater for the needs of the elderly and the youth, as
well as encourage the public to move up the housing ladder.

A key emphasis of SHC's work is to optimise and rationalise the use of
public housing resources. HA has achieved remarkable results since the
implementation of a series of new measures endorsed by SHC to strengthen
efforts to combat tenancy abuse of PRH and enhance the Well-off Tenants
Policies. Between 2022/23 and 2024/25, over 8 200 PRH flats were recovered
due to tenancy abuse and breaches of tenancy agreements or housing
policies. The total number of recovered flats is comparable to the size of
a large housing estate. To collect intelligence for better targeting and
combating PRH abuse, SHC endorsed the launch of the Report Public
Housing Abuse Award on 15 January 2025. Informants who participate in
the Scheme and provide non-anonymous reports with genuine and concrete
information leading to the issuance of Notice-to-Quit to households with
tenancy abuse will be offered a certificate of appreciation and a maximum
cash reward of $3,000. To tie in with the series of further measures to
combat PRH abuse and in the light of HA's experience in investigation and
prosecution, Housing Bureau has sought to amend the Housing Ordinance
to enhance effectiveness of HA's efforts in combating tenancy abuse, taking
into account the views of SHC. These proposed legislative amendments
included introducing new offences of serious tenancy abuse of PRH flats,
empowering authorised officers to demand personal details and extending
the limitation of time for prosecution of the offences of false statements
and refusal to furnish information. We are delighted that the Legislative
Council passed the Amendment Bill in June 2025.

Furthermore, SHC endorsed reducing the subsidies for well-off tenants by
raising their additional rents. PRH tenants with income levels exceeding
four times but not five times the PRH income limits after two declaration
cycles (i.e. four years in total) must also vacate their flats. At the same time,
to encourage upward mobility of well-off tenants, SHC endorsed to adjust
the quota allocation ratio of Green Form (GF) and White Form (WF) to 50:50
starting from the next Home Ownership Scheme sale exercise. Also, well-
off tenants who are paying additional rents (irrespective of the rent level)
can retain their GF status for four years after they have voluntarily moved
out from their flats. SHC also endorsed various measures to rationalise
the implementation of the Well-off Tenants Policies (WTP). These include
allowing PRH tenants who have signed an Agreement for Sale and Purchase
(including a Preliminary Agreement for Sale and Purchase) to purchase a
private domestic property, or individual members of the household who
have purchased a subsidised sale flat (SSF) with WF status (regardless of
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whether the domestic property is completed or not) to continue to rent
their existing PRH flats and their surrender of the PRH flats or deletion of
the subject member from the tenancy will only be required after they have
completed the assignment of the property they have agreed to buy. We
also require each family member to declare individually whether they own
any domestic property in Hong Kong, so as to identify those who have
made false declarations for the purpose of taking enforcement measures.

On estate management, SHC endorsed the enhancements to the
Marking Scheme for Estate Management Enforcement in Public Housing
Estates with effect from 1 December 2024 to meet the public aspirations
to further enhance the hygienic and safe environment in PRH estates.
These include adding three new misdeed items and widening the scope
of two misdeed items. Moreover, with a view to rendering assistance to
the Owners’ Corporations of the Tenants Purchase Scheme (TPS) estates
in daily management and meeting the residents’ aspiration for a good
living environment, all misdeed items under the Marking Scheme are
also applicable to PRH tenants in TPS estates.

To cater for the needs of PRH elderly residents choosing to reside in
Residential Care Homes for the Elderly (RCHEs) under the Portable
Social Security Schemes (i.e. the Portable Comprehensive Social Security
Assistance Scheme, Guangdong Scheme and Fujian Scheme in Hong Kong
and the Mainland) or to return to the Mainland for good, SHC endorsed
the extension of the response period for such PRH elderly residents from
three months to six months with effect from March 2025 regarding the
surrender of their PRH flats or deletion of their names from PRH tenancies,
to align the relevant response period with the response period under the
Residential Care Services Scheme. This would help alleviate the elderly’s
concerns about the adaptation to living environment when choosing
long-term retirement in the Mainland.

To encourage young people to move up the housing ladder, SHC endorsed
measures to enhance the arrangements for SSF. To assist young people
in achieving home ownership, under the White Form Secondary Market
Scheme (WSM) 2024 launched in March 2025, HA has introduced the Youth
Scheme (WSM), which provides 1 500 additional quotas to young applicants
aged below 40. Starting from the next Home Ownership Scheme (HOS)
sale exercise, HA will introduce the Youth Scheme (HOS) by allocating an
extra ballot number to young family applicants and young one-person
applicants aged below 40 with WF status to improve their chances of
success in purchasing a flat. SHC also endorsed to allocate an extra ballot
number to applicants who did not succeed to purchase an SSF in the last
two sale exercises of the same type of SSF consecutively to increase their
chances of success in purchasing a flat, starting from the next HOS and
Green Form Subsidised Home Ownership Scheme sale exercises.

I would like to extend my whole-hearted gratitude to all members of
SHC for their unfailing support and invaluable contributions, as well as to
the colleagues in the Housing Department (HD) for their hard work and
dedication, which helped bring about many fruitful achievements in our
work in subsidised housing last year.
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The work of the Tender Committee (TC) covers a wide range of
procurement activities for HA, including tenders and quotations
that exceed the delegated financial authority as well as HA's
list management regime, which is an integrated part of HA's
procurement policy.

During the year, TC scrutinised submitted tender reports and
approved the award of 139 contracts. In addition, TC continued
to review and propose enhancements to the procurement system
to maintain a fair, open and equitable policy that secures the best
value of money. | am most grateful to TC Members for their valuable
views and suggestions during discussions at the TC meetings.

As a prudent risk management measure and to address the frequent
need of inviting tenders of similar nature, HA have established a
number of lists of works contractors and property management
services providers to secure readily available qualified bidders
for selective tendering. In 2024/25, TC approved various updates
and enhancements to list management requirements to raise
the operating efficiency, offer more tendering opportunities for
contractors on the lower groups, and encourage more contractors
to apply for admission to the HA List of Building Contractors,
including the revised methodology for deriving Workload Capping
Limits, increase in Group Tender Limit, relaxation on project
experience requirements, revised frequency for list retention
exercise, replacement of the Statutory Declaration on Company
Status by self-declaration, and temporary waiving of application
fees for admission to lower groups of the HA List of Building
Contractors. TC also approved various updates and enhancements
to the tendering arrangement including the increase in Tender
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Award Restrictions, streamlined approval procedure of parallel
tendering for HA Capital Works New Works contracts, and domestic
sub-contract arrangement for building services installations under
HA's conventional building new works contracts.

Amidst the challenge of public housing production targets, TC
continued to uphold high standard of integrity as it has tender
mechanism for all contractors, sub-contractors, suppliers and
service providers. We will closely monitor their performance to
ensure that any necessary actions can be swiftly undertaken in
a timely manner, guaranteeing the delivery of our service and
operation.

In closing, | would like to express my sincere thanks to all TC Members
and HA staff for their valuable contribution and uncompromising
determination to accomplish the varied tasks of TC during the
year, which are essential in securing timely engagement of
competent and reliable contractors or services providers, and
effective procurement and list management systems in place to
cope with changing circumstances.
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Over the years, HA strives to uphold its corporate governance
with a view to strengthening internal controls and ensuring the
effective and efficient use of resources. To achieve this aim, the
Audit Sub-Committee (ASC) oversees the internal audit function
for HA / HD for continuously enhancing reliability and integrity
of various operating systems being adopted.

During the year, we reviewed the reports of nine audit reviews
conducted by HD internal audit teams. They covered a wide range
of areas from works-related to non-works-related activities. All the
required follow-up actions on the audit reports have either been
substantially completed or currently in good progress.

We approved the 2025/26 annual audit plans, comprising a total of
seven audit assignments selected based on risk-based approach.
The subject areas cover provision of electricity and water in estates,
letting management of welfare and miscellaneous premises,
registration of public rental housing applications, structural
monitoring of pre-1981 estates, adoption of precast concrete
components and enhanced precast concrete components in
new works building contracts, estates asbestos management,
and procurement and administration of soft landscape works
in new works projects. Audit teams will continue to stay agile to
ensure relevant subject matters of concerns outside the plan be
addressed in a timely manner from time to time.

| would like to express my heartfelt appreciation to members of the
ASC and the staff of HA for their unfailing support and invaluable
contribution to the ASC's work in the past year.

Kelly CHAN Yuen-sau, Jp
Chairman of Audit Sub-Committee
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Public housing under Lion Rock
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Planning for the Future:
The Long-term Housing Supply

Each year, the Government releases a Long Term Housing Strategy
(LTHS) Annual Progress Report in which it presents the housing
supply target over the following 10-year period. As stated in the
LTHS Annual Progress Report 2024, the Government has identified
sufficient land to meet the public housing supply target of 308 000
units for the coming 10-year period (i.e. from 2025/26 to 2034/35).

Following a review undertaken in 2024 to mark the 10t anniversary
of the Government's promulgation of the LTHS, Housing Bureau (HB)
reaffirmed that it would continue to work to gradually correct the
supply-demand imbalance in accordance with the Government's
major strategic directions. This involves: (1) adopting supply-led
and flexible principles that will help speed up the provision
of housing supply; (2) embracing measures to promote home
ownership among young people; and (3) applying measures to
further safeguard the rational use of PRH resources by stamping
out tenancy abuse and encouraging PRH tenants to move up the
housing ladder.

Over the next 10 years, HA will work towards a planning ratio of
60:40 for the construction of PRH and GSH flats on the one hand,
and other types of Subsidised Sale Flats (SSFs) on the other. This
means that the public housing supply target of 308 000 units will
comprise 185000 units for PRH/GSH, and 123 000 units for other
types of SSF.
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Expanding Housing Resources

SHEENARBEERE (RE) B
Public rental housing (PRH) flats allocated

29 114.:.

EENEERHETE (BR) B
Home Ownership Scheme (HOS)
% flats put up for sale
7 132:
units

EENERER S (BER) B
Green Form Subsidised Home Ownership
Scheme (GSH) flats put up for sale

2 359°.

HA has the responsibility for achieving this production target,
and Chapter 2 of this report provides details of our construction
progress in 2024/25. In this chapter we focus on two other key
functions of HA, those of allocating available PRH units to those
in need, and of overseeing and administering various schemes to
help low to middle-income families get a foothold on and move
up the housing ladder.

Allocating PRH units

Around 29 100 PRH units were allocated to applicants during
the 2024/25 fiscal year. About 22 700 of these were allocated to
general applicants and non-elderly one-person applicants under
the Quota and Points System (QPS), and about 4 000 to existing
tenants undertaking various types of transfers. The rest, or
approximately 2 400 units, were allocated to applicants in various
special categories, including people applying for compassionate
rehousing and families affected by government clearance actions,
fire, natural disasters and emergencies, etc.
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As at the end of March 2025, there were about 116 400 general
applications (i.e. applications by family applicants with a household
size of two or more persons and elderly one-person applicants)
and around 86 300 non-elderly one-person applications under the
QPS. The average waiting time for general applicants who were
housed in PRH during 2024/25 was 5.3 years, while the average
waiting time for elderly one-person applicants was 3.3 years.
Regarding the Composite Waiting Time for Subsidised Rental
Housing (CWT), about 4 800 general applicants were housed
to PRH or Light Public Housing (LPH) in the first quarter of 2025.
Whilst the LPH has commenced intake from 28 March 2025, it is
still at its initial stage and only 83 households were housed in
the first quarter of 2025. The CWT therefore maintained at 5.3
years. The remaining LPH units will be completed in phases from
2025 to 2027, gradually moving towards the goal of completing
the construction of about 30 000 LPH units by 2027/28. With the
gradual completion of various PRH and LPH projects, the CWT
will gradually decline.

We have fair and equitable mechanisms in place to determine
priority for allocating PRH units to applicants on the waiting list.
For general applicants, we prioritise the allocation of PRH units
according to their order of registration, family size, and choice
of district. Priority for non-elderly one-person applicants under
the QPS is determined by the total points accumulated by these
applicants. These points are allotted based on their age at the
time of application, their waiting time to date, and whether they
are already living in PRH.
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Kam Pak Court, Ma On Shan under construction
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Expanding Housing Resources

Managing SSF Schemes

HA is also responsible for managing various SSF schemes that
enable eligible low to middle-income families and individuals
to move from renting to home ownership. These schemes
typically offer flats for sale to eligible applicants at a substantial
discount from their assessed market value. SSFs not only help
low to middle-income families take their first step onto the
home ownership ladder, but also free up PRH units for other
PRH applicants as the tenants who bought SSF move out. This
year, HA endorsed and launched some new initiatives aimed to
assist two categories of potential SSF purchasers, namely young
people, and applicants who have repeatedly been unsuccessful
in earlier SSF sale exercises.

Green Form Subsidised Home Ownership Scheme
GSH is specifically designed for Green Form (GF) applicants, who
are primarily PRH tenants. GSH flats are sold at a discount of 10%
more than that of the preceding HOS sale exercise. The Sale of
GSH Flats 2023 offered 2 359 new flats for sale in late March 2024,
with the discount rate set at 48% of the assessed market values.
Flat selection for eligible applicants was completed in November
2024 with all new flats sold.

Tenants Purchase Scheme (TPS)

A total of 39 PRH estates across Hong Kong are designated as
TPS estates, in which sitting tenants have the option to purchase
the flats they are living in. Although many tenants have purchased
flats via this scheme over the years, as at the end of March 2025,
around 30 000 flats (16% of the total number designated as TPS
flats) had not yet been sold.

In recent years, HA has undertaken a number of initiatives to
encourage more tenants to transit to home ownership and reduce
the number of unsold TPS flats. Since June 2023, flats recovered
from TPS estates have been put up for sale in HOS or GSH sale
exercises. Target buyers are those with GF status, as well as
eligible applicants under the Express Flat Allocation Scheme
(EFAS)'. If a recovered TPS flat remains unsold at the end of an
HOS or GSH sale exercise, it will be put up for sale in the EFAS
exercise immediately follows.

We put up for sale around 400 recovered TPS flats under the Sale
of HOS Flats 2024 (HOS 2024), at discount rates ranging from 78%
to 83% of their assessed market values.

' EFASIs a scheme that offers eligible PRH applicants an earlier chance to be allocated a

PRH unit. Applicants eligible under this scheme must have held a valid PRH application
for around one year or above, as well as fulfilling other eligibility criteria.
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Hin Keng Estate, Sha Tin is designated as one of the TPS estates
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Home Ownership Scheme

HOS, a major SSF scheme administered by HA, helps low to
middle-income families, including eligible PRH tenants, achieve
home ownership by enabling those eligible under the scheme
to purchase an HOS flat at a discount from the assessed market
value. The discount rate is determined by an affordability test
based on the median monthly household income of non-owner
occupier households in Hong Kong.

HOS 2024 was launched in October 2024, with applications invited
for 7 132 new flats in five new HOS developments. The discount rate
was set at 30% from assessed market values, based on the median
monthly household income of non-owner occupier households
for the first quarter of 2024. Around 106 000 applications were
received during the application period. Balloting to determine
selection priority was held in December 2024, and flat selection
for eligible applicants is expected to commence from the second
quarter of 2025.

HOS Secondary Market Scheme

The HOS Secondary Market Scheme enables GF applicants to
purchase SSFs in the Secondary Market with premium unpaid.
The scheme provides an extra route by which GF applicants can
achieve home ownership, while also freeing up PRH resources
for allocation to those in more pressing need.
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Expanding Housing Resources

Another scheme that addresses the home ownership aspirations
of low to middle-income families is the White Form Secondary
Market Scheme (WSM), which allows successful White Form (WF)
applicants also to purchase HOS flats with premium unpaid in
the Secondary Market. Starting from WSM 2024, the WSM quota
was increased significantly by 1 500 to 6 000, in conjunction with
Subsidised Housing Committee’s (SHC's) approval of the new
Youth Scheme (WSM) in January 2025. In line with this scheme, all
the additional 1 500 quotas under WSM 2024 would be allocated
to young applicants aged below 40, with the aim of helping more
young people purchase an SSF.

Applications for WSM 2024 were invited in March 2025, and
balloting was held in late April 2025. Approval Letters for successful
applicants are expected to be issued in the third/fourth quarter
of 2025, inviting them to apply for a Certificate of Eligibility to
Purchase (CEP) with a validity period of 12 months. A CEP gives
its holder the right to purchase an SSF with premium not yet paid
within the validity period.

Further Enhancements to SSF Arrangements

At its meeting held in January 2025, SHC approved a number
of proposals to enhance the existing SSF arrangements. From
the next HOS sale exercise onwards, an extra ballot number will
be allocated to young family applicants and young one-person
applicants aged below 40 with WF status, in order to improve their
chances of success. On the other hand, an extra ballot number
will also be allocated to applicants who have been unsuccessful
in buying a flat in the last two consecutive sale exercises of the
same type of SSF, for the same reason. Such arrangement will
come into effect from the GSH 2024.

The relaxation of mortgage arrangements in respect of the
primary market and secondary market came into effect starting
from January and March 2024 respectively to promote the
circulation of SSFs. The relaxation measures included extending
the maximum mortgage default guarantee period for SSF sold in
the HOS Secondary Market Scheme to 50 years, and the maximum
repayment period to 30 years, enabling purchasers to take out
mortgage loans with longer terms than previously.

HA also implemented the Families with Newborns Flat Selection
Priority Scheme (Priority Newborns Scheme) in HOS 2024, a
scheme first announced in the 2023 Policy Address. A quota of
about 40% of the new flats under HOS 2024 (i.e. 2 900 flats) was set
aside for eligible applicants under the Priority Newborns Scheme
and the Priority Scheme for Families with Elderly Members, for
balloting and priority flat selection. Family applicants of HOS
2024 with babies born on or after 25 October 2023 were eligible
if their children were aged three or below on the closing day of
applications for HOS 2024,
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HA helps more young families purchase SSFs
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Tightening the Well-off Tenants Policies (WTP)

In March 2025, the SHC endorsed tightening the WTP. Subsidies
for well-off tenants will be reduced by raising their additional rents
and adjusting the threshold for vacating PRH flats. PRH tenants
with income levels exceeding four times but not five times the
PRH income levels after two declaration cycles (i.e. four years in
total) must vacate their flats. Meanwhile, to encourage upward
mobility of well-off tenants, tenants who are paying additional
rents (irrespective of the rent level) are allowed to retain their GF
status for four years after voluntarily moving out from their flats
and the quota allocation ratio of GF and WF will be adjusted to
50:50 starting from the next HOS sale exercise.

Some of the implementation details of the WTP have also been
rationalised. For instance, if PRH tenants have signed an Agreement
for Sale and Purchase (including a Preliminary Agreement for
Sale and Purchase) to purchase a private domestic property,
or individual members of a household have purchased an SSF
with WF status (regardless of whether the domestic property is
completed or not), HA will continue to allow them to rent their
existing PRH flats until their surrender of the PRH flats or deletion
of the subject member from the tenancy after assignment. During
this period, PRH tenants can continue to pay the prevailing level
of rent, which is the same as those who have purchased SSF with
GF status. All these enhancements are designed to ensure that
our policies are compassionate and reasonable.
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Public housing projects in Tung Chung
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Completed Projects

A total of 16 housing projects were completed in 2024/25. They
include 6 public rental housing (PRH) / Green Form Subsidised
Home Ownership Scheme (GSH) projects with about 11 800 units,
and 10 subsidised sale flats (SSFs) projects with about 11 300
flats for sale.

Redevelopment of Aged Estates

Engaging with the community: Wah Fu Living Room
The redevelopment of Wah Fu Estate, which involves both
demolishing the original blocks and constructing new reception
housing blocks to rehouse the current Wah Fu residents, is in good
progress. Construction of the Wah King Street Phase 1a reception
estate has been progressing at full speed, and the estate is set
to welcome residents by the end of 2026.
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Other SSFs
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2025/26 - 2029/30

JaH#ER R Estimated production

2025/26 - 2029/30
Ja5H#ER R Estimated production

# O OOO1$& # 5 OO B
approx. 1 4 units approx. 4 4 units

1970 FRAEHFEEE
Wah Fu Estate in mid-1970s

Retail facilities added

approf?. 22 600 rTZE%K

(Hergmmig)

(in gross floor area)
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Total
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=== approx. units
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Total

— appro? 1 49 400 L%Sﬁ

BN REREEAEN
Private car and lorry
parking spaces added

:1 490:
approx. units
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During the transformation, HA has been making efforts to ensure
that community life at Wah Fu is disrupted as little as possible, and
that the transition process for residents is smooth and harmonious.
This was the motivation behind our setting up of “Wah Fu Living
Room” in October 2024. Wah Fu Living Room is a dedicated one-
stop service hub, designed to provide residents with essential
information about clearance and rehousing arrangements, as well
as acting as a meeting space for interactions with local kaifong
(people in the neighbourhood). Also based there is the Phase
1Ta Community Service Team (CST), a social worker-led group
which is working to help tenants, especially the elderly, navigate
the challenges associated with relocating and adapting to a
new living environment. Wah Fu Living Room has been warmly
welcomed and supported by local residents, and we anticipate that
it will continue to play a vital role throughout the redevelopment
process in helping maintain well-being and cohesion in the Wah
Fu community at a time of change.

Advances in the redevelopment programme

In December 2024, HA announced that the clearance and rehousing
schedule for the redevelopment of Wah Fu Estate Phase 3 had
been brought forward by six years, following the Government’s
announcement on the proposed South Island Line (West) as a
smart, green mass transit system. This change in the mass transit
system meant that the site originally reserved for heavy rail
construction at the existing Wah On House and Wah Lok House
could be released early, and demolition works could begin as
soon as tenants had moved out from these two blocks. This will
enable us to make an early start on the construction of the New
Wah Fu Estate Phase 1 at the site, which will serve for rehousing
the tenants of Wah Chui House and Wah King House, the last two
blocks to be cleared for the Wah Fu Estate redevelopment. The
revised arrangement will mean an advancement of the rehousing
programme by six years, with completion of New Wah Fu Estate
Phase 1 targeted by 2034/2035.

The informative display boards in Wah Fu Living Room provide residents with
information about clearance and rehousing arrangements
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A plan showing the advanced timetable for
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the redevelopment of Wah Fu Estate Phase 3
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Shops in the estate in the old days

Preserving the characteristics and treasures of
Wah Fu Estate

Over many decades, Wah Fu Estate has developed into a close-
knit community with a unique cultural heritage and a rich fund of
collective memories. In preparation for the estate redevelopment,
HA has not only been reaching out to hear the voices and views of
local residents, but has also engaged with local shops and their
owners. We organised a number of engagement workshops with
these parties to identify the characteristics and the tangible and
intangible treasures of the estate most worth preserving — such
as the iconic building plaques outside the residential blocks, the
cascading terraced public spaces, and the stunning sea views. These
and other elements were recognised as making up a distinctive

part of the estate’s historical character as well as representing
familiar landmarks for residents past and present. In addition, HA
has been looking to support long-serving local shops by ensuring
the tender arrangements for the new estate are flexible enough
to assist in their easy migration from the existing Wah Fu Estate.

FEE92 (AIH) MEZE (hH)
Wah Lok House (front row) and Wah On House (middle row)
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Choi Hung Estate Redevelopment

During the year, HA conducted the first stage of its community
engagement programme, titled “Rebuilding the Rainbow”, for
the Choi Hung Estate redevelopment, as well as completing a
comprehensive redevelopment study. “Rebuilding the Rainbow”
connected with stakeholders from all sectors of the society through
a series of engagement workshops, a fun fair, a questionnaire,
and newsletter updates. Taking into account the feedback from
these engagement activities and District Council members, HA
developed a set of detailed clearance and rehousing arrangements
for Phase 1 of the Choi Hung Estate redevelopment, which were
announced in December 2024.

The arrangements involve dividing the clearance and redevelopment
process into three phases to ensure that adequate rehousing
resources will be provided in a timely manner, and disturbances
to tenants minimised. The first stage will involve preparing the
reception estate, the new Mei Tung Estate, for residents affected
by the Phase 1 clearance. We anticipate that the new Mei Tung
Estate will be ready for occupancy in 2028. Upon completion, the
new Choi Hung Estate will increase in the number of flats from
about 7 400 to approximately 9 200.
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A community engagement workshop

A newsletter produced
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A plan of the clearance and rehousing arrangements for Choi Hung Estate
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An example of the application of Generative Design to modular flat design

Generative Design in Architectural Aspect

Project Life Cycle
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HEERBEERBR D AXREH
Modular Integrated Construction
significantly reduces installation time

Innovation and Technology

Building Information Modelling (BIM) and

Generative Design (GD)

HA applies BIM technology in all its new construction projects.
We continue to use BIM applications at the planning, design,
and construction stages, including for statutory submissions,
construction planning and design, to enhance quality and
productivity. We have also integrated BIM with our Geographic
Information System (GIS) to create a virtual platform which is
facilitating master planning and optimising the development
potential of our housing sites. We also employ the GD, a cutting-
edge artificial intelligence-based methodology that generates
design solutions tailored according to specific objectives and
constraints. Recent research has explored how the GD can be
applied to modular flat design, for example by optimising the
configurations of typical residential floors.

Modular Integrated Construction (MiC)

HA started adopting MiC in its public housing projects in 2020.
We have recently been working on the development of MiC 2.0, a
second-generation MiC which builds on current MiC technologies
and accumulated experience. MiC 2.0 includes new and advanced
installation methods that minimise the need for temporary supports
and simplify on-site assembly processes, significantly reducing
installation times.

In March 2024, we completed a full-scale MiC 2.0 mock-up, and
organised site visits to the mock-up and associated workshops in
collaboration with the Hong Kong Modular Integrated Construction
and Materials Association and the Hong Kong Construction
Association.

Building Information
Modelling technology
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Construction Robotics

Since 2020, HA has been promoting the use of construction
robotics by giving bonus marks to technical proposals from
tenderers that incorporate robotics usage. Up to the end of
March 2025, over 20 HA projects had incorporated construction
robots to improve productivity, quality, and safety in various tasks.
For example, construction robots undertook the skim coating,
sanding, and spray painting of domestic flats over 10 floors in a
recent public housing project. With the support automated BIM-
based technology, multiple robots can be remotely controlled by a
single operator. The time required for skim coating, sanding, and
painting a domestic block with approximately 24 units per floor,
traditionally completed by a team of eight workers, can now be
matched by robots with just two operators. HA will continue to
explore the potential of robots for a range of construction work
processes, thus increasing efficiency and enhancing site safety.

Development and Construction Site Mobile System

(DCSMS)

HA has been utilising the DCSMS since 2016 to enhance
communication between our site staff and contractors, and to
improve the traceability of our site inspection records. Over the
years, modifications and upgrades to the DCSMS have expanded
its functionality, range and quality. At the end of March 2025, the
system was providing 14 distinct mobile and web applications for
such tasks as inspecting architectural works, building services
works and structural works, requesting materials testing services,
and keeping site records in a single system.

PAREM EHBEANNE

Robot's interface on a tablet
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A robot performing wall and ceiling sanding
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During the year, the system was further extended to cover inspections
at off-site factories producing precast concrete elements, thus
ensuring the full traceability of these elements. Additionally, the
DCSMS has been upgraded to support surveillance inspections
for projects under the “Design-and-Build” model.

Reality capture technology

HA started using reality capture technology in all its new construction
contracts from January 2025. This technology collects and
integrates images and geospatial data from laser scanners and
high-resolution cameras to create digital models, which can be
compared with BIM models to detect any discrepancies and
ensure a thorough final inspection before sign-off of completion
certificate. A collaborative trial with the Fire Services Department
on inspections using digital twin technology is underway. Its aim
is to expedite the processing and approval of occupation permit
applications by providing approving authorities with comprehensive
visual representations of the sites.

Housing Smart Intake (HOST) System

A web-based e-submission platform that enables new tenants
and owners to report defects in new PRH estates and SSF courts,
the HOST System was first rolled out in 2022. To date, over 8 000
reports from flats in a total of 13 newly completed estates and
courts have been submitted through the HOST System. The most
recent phase of the HOST System was completed in May 2024
to cover defects reported by estate management units relating
to the common areas of new estates and courts. The system is
also accessible through “iAM Smart” giving tenants and owners
an even better user experience. We collect and review regularly
user feedback with the aim of making continuous enhancements
to the system.

The HOST System is integrated with the Defect Rectification Module
of DCSMS, which helps speed up the handling of defects by Intake
Ambassadors and the rectification of defects by contractors as
well as enhancing defect monitoring by site supervisory teams. In
addition, the HOST System facilitates the analysis of data relating
to items reported and defects identified, helping us continuously
improve our public housing design.
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HA-PIMAP monitors the status of precast units from
production to installation (left photo), and its 3D visualisation

HA-PIMAP is honoured with APICTA Awards 2024: Public Sector & Government — 15t Runner-up (Digital Government) (left photo)
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and Technology — 1t Runner-up (Business Data Analytics)
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HA Project Information Management and

Analytics Platform (HA-PIMAP)

HA has developed HA-PIMAP, a cloud-based digital platform
that leverages 3D digital maps and Digital Twin technology to
collate and integrate vast amounts of data from diverse Internet
of Things (loT) applications. In particular, the platform provides
3D visualisation of our public housing projects right across the
planning, design, and construction phases. HA-PIMAP's analytics
tools also generate critical parameters and indexes on a visualised
project dashboard.

HA-PIMAP has been adopted in five projects during the construction
stage, to monitor their general on-site progress and track the status
of the precast units manufactured off-site. The platform enables
contract managers to identify risks promptly from the production
to the installation phase, and to take preemptive actions quickly
and efficiently. HA-PIMAP will be progressively rolled out across
all new projects from 2026 onwards.

HA-PIMAP was the only entry from the China Region in the Digital
Government Category at the Asia Pacific ICT Alliance (APICTA)
Awards 2024, and received the 15t Runner-up award in both the
Digital Government and the Business Data Analytics categories.
This is a strong recognition of HA's efforts and achievements in
both public housing construction and digital development.
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Smart Site Safety System (4S)

As part of our commitment to upholding high site safety standards
for works contracts and protecting the lives of frontline site
personnel, HA has introduced enhanced contract requirements
that require the use of innovative safety technology. We have been
piloting the use of smart devices to enhance safety management
at our sites since 2019. Since 2023 we have been making the 4S
part of our contract provisions to further raise the safety awareness
of site workers and improve safety standards at our works sites.

The 4S utilises loT sensors and artificial intelligence devices to
trigger alerts when risks are detected, notifying workers and site
management personnel of the need for immediate action. The
system has a centralised management platform that monitors
and analyses real-time data from sensors and detectors. It can be
used for a multitude of different health and safety applications,
including controlling hazardous accessways, specifying mobile
plant and tower crane danger zones, detecting vehicle height
limits, monitoring and tracking plant and personnel, undertaking
smart health monitoring, controlling access to confined spaces,
and issuing or checking e-permits.

About 40 new HA works contracts acquired accreditation under
the 4S Labelling Scheme of the Construction Industry Council. As
technology continues to advance, HA will explore using new loT
technology to expand the scope of the Smart Site Safety System
and further enhance safety management at its works sites.
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A centralised management platform monitors and analyses real-time data from sensors and detectors

39



40

2024/25 FERRNAE / GERBRRER (REFHS)

[eccsmecss

b5 =

I

T L LR TLELELE

PRH/GSH projects completed in 2024/25 (in chronological order)

i B

Location

HEEE 36 RE M
Fanling Area 36 Phase 4

BB
Hin Fat Lane

SEEE
Pak Tin Phase 10

FAERRE — A
Yip Wong Road Phase 2

SEEPIE M
Lei Yue Mun Phase 4

RBEE 9
Tung Chung Area 99

B/ BREERE

Estate / Court name
BB
Ching Tao Court

BETP
Hin Fat Estate

B E$F
Pak Tin Estate

ZERETR
Yip Wong Estate

¥

Ko Wang Court

FEREE
Cheung Tung Estate

REEBR

Block name

7&58%8 Ching Tao Court

FEZE Hin Fat House

HEE Nga Tin House

%=1 Yip Sin House
X124 Yip Tak House
2512 Yip Tsz House

=&/ Ko Lai House
=EH Ko Yin House

B Cheung Yat House
A% Cheung Yuet House
#1218 Cheung Sing House
#1B% Cheung Fai House

& EBIEREF C ERE - BB
HET - XEEH - R0 - AR
Clockwise from top left: Ching Tao Court,
Hin Fat Estate, Pak Tin Estate, Yip Wong
Estate, Ko Wang Court, Cheung Tung Estate

Bu#AE
No. of flats

776

872

924

2604

2021

4560

2024/25 FERNEMBEHEFEEE (REFHS)

Other SSF projects completed in 2024/25 (in chronological order)

Location

FR1EE8

Chiu Shun Road

=IE

Ko Shan Road

RR1E 2B2 (@30 A%

Kai Tak Site 2B2

2 B E AR5 R2-7 5788
Anderson Road Quarry Site R2-7
2 B E AR5 RS-1 8
Anderson Road Quarry Site RS-1
EEL

Hang Fu Street

2% 2 38 A TE IS R2-5 1 42
Anderson Road Quarry Site R2-5

2 E R B ARG R2-631 8
Anderson Road Quarry Site R2-6

2 ER B A TES R2-8 1
Anderson Road Quarry Site R2-8

RR1E 2B6 [@ i A8
Kai Tak Site 2B6

B/ EHEERB

Estate / Court name

B EA%E,

Chiu Ming Court
Atz

Kwun Shan Court
RUARZE

Kai Yan Court
Zase

On Pak Court
LH

On Sau Court
JK2 %0

Siu Tsui Court
LRI

On Ying Court
LHES,

On Wah Court
TR,

On Lai Court
R 5E

Kai Yuet Court

REER

Block name

FREAZE

TELIZE

R R

EQi=ET)
LR
2 &R

JERR A
JERE B
25
gl
27 B
2Bk
ZFH
2B
2=

R R
R

Chiu Ming Court

Kwun Shan Court

Kai Yun House
Kai Tim House

On Pak Court

On Kit House
On Chun House

Siu Ying House
Siu Ching House

On Hung House
On Mun House

On Yin House
On Tak House

On Sing House
On Yuk House
On Man House

Kai Fung House
Kai Wah House

= LRIERE - BBESE - ISt - RURIE © T - BFEL - KB - 2RI - RER - ZE - RbiE
Clockwise from top left: Chiu Ming Court, Kwun Shan Court, Kai Yan Court, On Pak Court, On Sau Court, Siu Tsui Court,
On Ying Court, On Wah Court, On Lai Court, Kai Yuet Court
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BUBE
No. of flats

594

495

1840

420

1906

518

1140

990

1380

2046
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Story Well:Being: A Vital Design Principle for Public Housing

[E/R5T B 2EN\M
The eight-volume Well-Being Design Guide

In early 2023, an action group chaired by the Secretary for Housing
was set up to develop a new Well « Being programme aimed at
meaningfully enhancing the quality of life in Hong Kong's public
housing developments.

Well-Being Design Guide

One of the action group'’s first tasks was to develop a design guide
related to “well-being” that would be tailored to public housing in
Hong Kong. Following extensive consultation with PRH residents,
stakeholders, and professionals from various relevant sectors, eight
key well-being concepts that directly influence public housing
design were formulated: “Health & Vitality”, “Green Living &
Sustainability”, “Age-friendliness”, “Intergenerational & Inclusive
Living”, “Family & Community Connection”, “Urban Integration”,
“Upward Mobility”, and “Perception & Image”. Further details are
available on the Well-Being Design Guide website.
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The Guide was unveiled in September 2024
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The new Well-Being Design Guide in eight volumes was launched
in September 2024, with each volume addressing a different
well-being concept identified by the action group. To mark the
launch, we staged a WELL « BEING Estate Festival in September, a
territory-wide celebration held across more than 30 public housing
estates. The festival introduced well-being concepts to the public
through a variety of recreational and cultural activities, including a
Happy Family Fun Run, estate-guided tours, art jamming sessions,
and community galas.

A key event accompanying the launch was the WELL + BEING
Design Dialogue, a special two-day symposium held in September
2024. The event brought together speakers and guests from
diverse sectors in Hong Kong, Mainland China, and other parts of
Asia — including Japan, Thailand, Cambodia, and Vietnam. The
symposium provided an ideal platform for sharing the eight well-
being design principles with many different industry stakeholders.
Looking ahead, we hope that the Well-Being Design Guide will
serve not only as a reference for future public housing projects but
also as a source of inspiration and good practice for the private
sector and urban development professionals around the world.

NEEEBERTR
Kai Yip Estate, Kowloon Bay

BRET AW
Ping Shek Estate, Kwun Tong

ByER R
Wo Lok Estate, Kwun Tong
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HAppy Family « Colourful and Fun Estate Project at Butterfly Estate in Tuen Mun
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Pilot well-being projects in existing estates

We have also been applying well-being concepts in various pilot
projects in existing estates. These include facade beautification
and minor estate improvement works, landscape improvement
works, and theme-based improvement works, all specifically aimed
at increasing residents’ sense of well-being and belonging, and
fostering a sense of pride in their home environments. Examples are:

(1) “HAppy Family * Colourful and Fun Estate Project” — Around
10 estates each year will be selected for facade beautification
and/or minor improvement works, including enhancements to
recreational facilities.

(2) “"Happy Green Family” — Around 20 estates will be selected
every year for landscape improvement works, to create enhanced
outdoor green environments for residents’ enjoyment.

(3) “Let's Go Well-being « Well-being Design Pretest” — Five pilot
estates, namely Kai Yip Estate, Chak On Estate, Fu Shan Estate,
Shui Pin Wai Estate and Mei Lam Estate, have been selected
for thematic improvement works to their key facilities, based
on suggestions in the Well-Being Design Guide.
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Well  Being website
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Rooftop garden of Domain in Yau Tong
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Safeguard public

housing resources abuse

i TRERAE

Combat tenancy

Safeguarding Public Housing Resources

Public Rental Housing (PRH) abuse presents a serious challenge to
our much-valued PRH system. HA has been working vigilantly to
address this problem in recent years and has achieved significant
results. Between April 2022 and March 2025, over 8 200 PRH flats
were recovered due to tenancy abuse, or breaches of tenancy
agreements and housing policies — equivalent to a large housing
estate. We continue to explore new measures to further improve
the accuracy, effectiveness, and scope of our detection and
investigation efforts.

Report Public Housing Abuse Award

Alongside our internal efforts to combat tenancy abuse, we rely
heavily on the collective efforts of all sectors of the community.
Members of the public have shown themselves ready to exercise
their civic responsibility by reporting suspected cases of abuse.
To further enlist public support, HA launched the Report Public
Housing Abuse Award on 15 January 2025. This initiative offers
rewards to informants who can provide reports in real name
with credible intelligence that leads to the uncovering of abuse
cases and the successful issuance of Notices-to-Quit against the
abusers’ PRH tenancies.
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A poster advertising the Report Public Housing Abuse Award
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Amendments to the Housing Ordinance

Under the Housing Ordinance, if a PRH tenant commits serious
tenancy abuse, HA has the right to terminate the tenancy but no
power to prosecute the tenant. Recognising this mild deterrent
effect, there have been widespread calls from all sectors of society
for the introduction of an offence of serious tenancy abuse. We
submitted an Amendment Bill to the Legislative Council in June
2025 to introduce a new criminal offence of serious tenancy abuse
which has been passed with the relevant measures to be effective
from 31 March 2026.

Maintenance for Better Living

Lift Modernisation Programme

This programme aims to provide better, safer and more reliable
lift services at our estates through scheduled replacements of
existing lifts, bringing the safety standards of all our lifts into
line with current requirements. We check and assess all lifts
that have been in use for 25 years or more in PRH estates, and
establish the priority for lift modernisation works based on the
overall operating condition of the lifts and the availability of our
resources. In 2024/25, we modernised 74 lifts in PRH estates, and
issued tenders for the modernisation of another 93 lifts.

Visual Fire Alarm (VFA) System in domestic flats

Fire is perhaps the biggest safety risk for PRH tenants. Our primary
fire alarm systems rely on alarm bells to warn of fire, but some of
our residents who are hearing-impaired are unable to hear these
alarms easily. To increase protection for the hearing-impaired, we
offer free installation of VFA Systems connected to the fire alarm
system. These cause a bright alarm light in the flat to flash if the
communal fire alarm bells sound.

The VFA System has been available free of charge since March
2020 for those registered as having a hearing impairment. As at
the end of March 2025, the system has been installed in 105 flats
in 70 PRH estates.

FRERERLEAESEREAER2MRE
Our Lift Modernisation Programme provides
safe and efficient lift services for residents
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In-flat Inspection Ambassadors record in-flat conditions for residents

Total Maintenance Scheme (TMS) and

Responsive In-flat Maintenance Services (RIMS)

The TMS delivers proactive inspection and maintenance services
for residents of PRH flats that are 10 years old or above, keeping
flats safe for residents as well as extending the lifespan of our
housing assets. Our dedicated TMS In-flat Inspection Ambassadors
systematically inspect and record in-flat conditions, identify
maintenance needs and arrange necessary repairs. We also run
various promotional and educational activities to draw tenants’
awareness to the importance of regular flat maintenance.

RIMS provide enhanced and responsive in-flat maintenance services
promptly for all PRH flats. Tenants can make direct requests for
inspections and repairs, for which a one-stop service is arranged
as needed.

Quality Water Supply Scheme for Buildings —

Fresh Water (Management System) (QMS)

We have participated in the QMS administered by the Water
Supplies Department (WSD) since 2018. This scheme involves
implementing a Water Safety Plan for Buildings in all PRH estates,
with a special focus on internal plumbing systems. As at the
end March 2025, 192 PRH estates have received the relevant
QMS certificates from WSD. We will continue to participate in
this scheme and aim to obtain QMS certificates for all new PRH
estates to reassure all residents of the safety and quality of the
water supply.
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Drainage Enhancement Programme (DEP)

The DEP has been in progress at existing PRH estates since
August 2022, bringing initiatives designed to enhance residents’
health and safety. Works to extend roof vent pipes in about 1 260
blocks and add independent U-traps to toilet floor drain traps
in over 42 000 domestic units had substantially been completed
by February 2025, while work to add connecting branch pipes to
collect used water to replenish the water inside floor drain traps
will be completed in August 2025.

Slope maintenance

HA currently manages and maintains 1 766 slopes on its properties.
Our slope maintenance work includes regular slope inspections and
arange of slope maintenance activities (e.g. routine maintenance
works and slope upgrading works) to safeguard slope safety. We
utilise an advanced Slope Management Maintenance System to
effectively manage our slope maintenance activities.

Comprehensive Structural Investigation Programme
(CSIP)

The CSIP is an ongoing programme that ascertains the structural
safety of our aged PRH estates. Under the CSIP, we also assess
the repair works needed to sustain those estates for at least a
further 15 years, as well as the cost-effectiveness of undertaking
such repairs. We are currently in the second cycle of the CSIP,
involving a total of 71 PRH estates.

|§E¢E§Wﬂﬁﬁﬁlﬁ

Slope maintenance work at Siu Sai Wan Estate in Eastern District
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“Moving with Love in Ngan Wan" encourages
elderly integration into the community

Pilot projects for well-being design concepts
Based on and in line with the concepts laid out in the Well-Being
Design Guide, we have been rolling out pilot projects in existing
estates to improve the living environment and enhance residents’
sense of well-being. For details of these pilot projects, please
refer to the Feature Story in Chapter 2 of this report.

At the same time, improvement works have been progressively
completed at a number of estates, including Butterfly Estate, Yue
Wan Estate, Sun Chui Estate, Fu Shan Estate and Lower Ngau
Tau Kok Estate. Many of these improved areas have become
popular photo spots or favoured locations for hosting events
within the estates.

Community Building

We regularly invite non-governmental organisations (NGOs) to
work with our estates in organising community-building activities.
Besides providing care and support services for residents of different
ages, these activities help foster neighbourliness and strengthen
a sense of belonging. This year's activities included carnivals,
performances, workshops, and health promotion programmes.

HA also collaborated with other government departments to
organise community events. Examples included the “I'm So
Smart” Community Health Promotion Programme, run with the
Department of Health, which encouraged residents to embrace a
healthy lifestyle, and various fire safety activities/seminars carried
out in estates with the Fire Services Department. In 2024/25,
some 520 partnering functions were held across our estates, all
helping to foster vibrant, caring and close-knit HA communities.

[REAHE - ERLR | KA EHERBERAR
The “Living in Shek Pai Wan, Visiting the Elderly” activity
promotes inter-generation harmony

| BN WEITER A
A Tree Planting Day held at Ap Lei Chau Estate in Southern District
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A wall painting “Our Home"” at Queens Hill Estate
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l AEERWER[FEEME | BEASHES
PRH tenants can instantly settle their rent payments
using the iHousing mobile app

Electronic Services

iHousing mobile app

Among many other useful functions, the iHousing mobile app
allows PRH tenants to pay rent and monthly carpark users to
pay monthly fees anytime and anywhere. Users can also receive
important information on estate management via the app or
e-Information from HA. Drivers can use it to apply for monthly
parking spaces.

A “Smart Estate Management” interface has now been added to
the app, opening up a number of extra online services. Tenants can
report defects via the Housing Smart Intake System, register for
the TMS, submit an In-flat Inspection Request, fill in an e-Survey,
check their Marking Scheme Score, submit various applications
for e-Services, and more.

E-payment services

HA now accepts the Faster Payment System (FPS) as an additional
e-payment option, enabling PRH tenants to transfer rent payments
using the iHousing mobile app instantly and at any time. Since
September 2024, tenants have also been able to scan real-time
FPS QR Codes from Mobile Point-of-Sale (mPOS) devices at
shroff offices to pay rent and other fees, such as repair charges.
Tenants can also use their Housing Department (HD) e-Payment
Card at over 1400 collection points, including 7-Eleven, Circle K
and VanGO convenience stores, and at U Select supermarkets
to pay rent.
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E-notice boards have been installed at the lift
lobbies of all PRH estates

E-notice boards

HA has installed over 1 400 digital e-notice boards in the lift
lobbies of all PRH estates to enhance communication with PRH
residents and boost estate management quality. The e-notice
boards share information and messages from estate offices,
HA, and the Government, presented in the form of promotional
videos, notices, or posters. Other benefits of the e-notice boards
include reduction in paper-based publicity materials and enhanced
efficiency due to easy and timely updating.

Cleansing and Rodent Control

Cleansing and anti-rodent work was conducted in all PRH estates
in 2024/25, including a regular Year End Cleaning Campaign and a
two-phase Anti-Rodent Campaign in support of the Government's
anti-rodent drive. Work included enhancing regular cleaning,
tackling hygiene black spots, increasing publicity efforts, and
stepping up rodent and pest control measures to maintain a
clean and livable environment for residents.

During the year, HD conducted over 500 joint cleansing operations
with other stakeholders in PRH estates, along with joint enforcement
actions in collaboration with other government departments. We
have set up anti-rodent night-time cleansing patrol teams in all
estates. We have also continued to roll out new equipment and
methods to combat rodent infestations. These include T-shape
bait boxes and alcohol rodent trapping devices, handheld thermal
imaging cameras for night patrols, and Mobile Surveillance
Systems with motion detection sensors to identify and monitor
rodent infestation areas and hygiene problems. HD will continue
to select 80 priority estates each year to carry out intensive anti-
rodent measures and related education work.
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We work hard to maintain clean and hygienic environments in our PRH estates
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We work hard to maintain clean and
hygienic environments in our PRH estates
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We collect the views of our PRH tenants about our cleansing
and rodent control work through an e-survey which is easily
accessible online by scanning a QR code or clicking on a hyperlink.
Alternatively, tenants can fill in paper-form questionnaires and
drop them in the suggestion boxes located at the lift lobbies of
domestic blocks.

Following passage of the Wild Animals Protection (Amendment)
Bill in 2024, starting from 1 September 2024, delegated officers
of HD have been entrusted with the power to issue fixed penalty
notices to combat illegal feeding of wild animals and feral pigeons.
In some PRH estates with “black spots” involving problematic
wild animals or feral pigeon infestations, joint departmental
enforcement operations in collaboration with the Agriculture,
Fisheries and Conservation Department and the Food and
Environmental Hygiene Department were carried out in the year.

Smart Estate Management

Trials in estates

HA has been taking steps to support the Government's Smart City
vision by introducing various smart estate management initiatives.
Trials of innovative technologies have been launched by stages
in 10 selected PRH estates to test how different technological
tools can assist in daily estate management to enhance service
quality. The trial estates were Yau Tong Estate, Shek Pai Wan
Estate, Hung Fuk Estate, Shui Chuen O Estate, Long Shin Estate,
Yan Tin Estate, Hoi Ying Estate, Tung Wui Estate, Fu Tip Estate
and Queens Hill Estate.

Smart Access Control System in Hin Fat Estate

HA has implemented a Smart Access Control System in Hin Fat
Estate. Residents’ responses have been positive since the first
intake in late September 2024. We will monitor the effectiveness
of the project, the technical applications of the system, and
feedback from residents, and continue discussion with relevant
government departments and organisations on the feasibility of
applying other innovative technologies in access control.

| BRFPERBESERHEAER2MRE

The Access Control System offers safe and convenient access for residents
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Ching Tao Shopping Centre, Sheung Shui

Retail and Commercial Properties

Diversified and balanced trade mix

The trade mix of HA's retail facilities is regularly reviewed to
ensure that each retail environment is a balanced one that serves
local communities well, and that our retail facilities are being
optimally utilised. We continue to adopt flexible marketing and
leasing strategies in line with market trends. Strategic leasing
plans have been formulated well ahead of the completion of new
retail facilities, such as Ching Tao Shopping Centre and Fu Tip
Shopping Centre, in order to ensure an optimal trade mix that
meets the basic needs of new residents upon intake.

The overall vacancy rate of HA's commercial facilities was 4.1%
in mid-2024, due to the sluggish retail market and changes
in consumption patterns, such as increasing online shopping
alongside the trend of Mainland-bound consumption. Our flexible
and comprehensive leasing strategies helped bring down the
vacancy rate gradually to 3.28% in March 2025, which compared
more favourably than the private sector with an overall vacancy
rate of about 6-8%. In fact, many of HA's shopping centres boast
almost 100% occupancy, including Ching Long Shopping Centre,
JoysMark, Ying Tung Shopping Centre and Ping Yan Shopping
Centre. The rich diversity of retail options in these facilities deliver
a wide variety of shopping choices and services for residents and
the local community.
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An experience sharing session with the commercial sector
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The Start-Up KEY Day event at Domain
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“Well Being * Start-Up” Programme

To encourage and support young people in pursuing their
entrepreneurial dreams, this year HA launched a new “Well
Being * Start-Up” Programme. Selected shop premises in HA
shopping centres were made available rent-free to individuals
aged 35 or below looking to try out their business ideas. About
180 applications were received for the programme by the close
of the application period in August 2024.

The programme selected 17 entrepreneurial applicants and
provided them with some 10 rent-free shop premises in our
shopping centres across different districts. If participants make
a profit from their businesses, HA will take 20% of their net profits
to fund the programme and support its ongoing development.

Apart from assisting young entrepreneurs in their efforts to succeed,
the programme also helps enrich the shopping experience for the
community by injecting new sources of vibrancy and vitality. HA
is keen to encourage private shopping centres and landlords in
the commercial sector to join the programme, further widening
the opportunities available for enterprising young people.

| KERESHNERFHEUHERBRNFAER
A gallery at Shui Chuen O Plaza sells locally-inspired deswgn products
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A chic fashion store at Domain
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Winners of the Dream on Stage Finals
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An elderly fashion show
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An activity to rally support for our Hong Kong athletes during the Olympic Games
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An indoor drone light show

Signature events

To enhance the appeal of its shopping centres, HA organises
many signature events and activities targeting young people,
families, and the young-at heart. For example, in celebration of the
75% anniversary of the founding of the People's Republic of China,
HA held a special “National Day 75" Anniversary@Domain” event
at Domain on National Day 2024. Under the theme of “"Dreams”,
the event featured a string performance, the Dream on Stage
Finals, an elderly fashion show and an indoor drone light show.
In addition, in partnership with a local TV channel, HA hosted
Olympic Games viewing parties in Domain to rally support for
our Hong Kong athletes. These and other signature events in HA
shopping centres were successful in drawing crowds and boosting
retail business in these centres.
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A new shop added to Upper Ngau Tau Kok Estate
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Asset enhancement of retail and car parking facilities
HA runs a five-year rolling asset enhancement programme that
identifies assets such as commercial, retail and car parking
facilities with the potential for being enhanced to increase their
value. Enhancements under the programme typically include
undertaking major improvement works, re-designating the trade
mix of shopping centres, adding extra shops, or converting
premises for new uses.

In 2024/25, Choi Tak Estate and Wo Tin Estate were added to the
asset enhancement programme, and options for enhancing the
retail facilities in these two estates are now being considered.
Meanwhile, improvement works at Upper Ngau Tau Kok Estate,
Mei Tin Shopping Centre and Tung Wui Estate were completed,
which saw enhancements to the trade mix of the shopping centres
and a wider range of goods and services made available at the
estates. Work was also in hand on improvements to the retail
facilities of several existing PRH estates and courts, including
Shui Pin Wai Estate, Choi Wan (Il) Estate, Shek Yam East Estate,
Lung Poon Court and Cheung Sha Wan Estate.

Electric vehicle (EV) charging facilities

Currently, EV chargers have been installed in around 3 810 private
car (PC) parking spaces at about 140 HA carparks. Given the
Government's long-term policy objectives regarding EVs and the
rapid increase in EV users, additional medium charging facilities
for about 3000 PC parking spaces were installed in 2024.

| RERRAENEEEPRFTER
Medium chargers for EVs at Kai Yan Court in Kai Tak
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Caring for our Elderly Residents

) BEEE LB
Queens Hill Estate, Fanling
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Caring for our many elderly residents (who make up approximately
one third of the entire PRH population) is an important priority
for us. Working in line with the Government'’s “Ageing in Place”
policy, HA has been taking a number of steps to address the
specific needs of elderly residents. Our goal is to develop living
environments that provide the elderly with all-round well-being,
whether through better housing arrangements, enhanced housing
design, improved estate facilities or the use of new technology.

Arranging activities in collaboration with NGOs

HA works in close collaboration with different social welfare
organisations to arrange activities for the elderly and encourage
them to participate in volunteer services. The aim of all these
initiatives is to bring together the elderly people of different
age groups so they can jointly leverage their strengths and skills,
enhance their connections with the community, and improve their
physical and mental well-being.

For example, we supported an NGO in organising elderly health-
themed activities in two PRH estates in Tseung Kwan O, which
included themed events, talks, and health check-ups. These
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HA addresses the needs of its elderly residents

BlLEREE

Enhancing Estate Management

| hLBE SR
Kai Ching Estate, Kowloon City

activities gave registered nurses, pharmacists, social workers,
and volunteers of the organisation the opportunity to interact
and build trust with the elderly, while helping them understand
their health conditions and risks. At the same time, under HA's
coordination, the Hong Kong Police Force set up a booth for its
Project PINPOINT, to promote the use of positioning devices by
the elderly. These examples, illustrate the HA's wholehearted
commitment to providing appropriate care and support for the
elderly in our estates, while also promoting the goal of "Building
Health Together" and fostering a caring and inclusive community.

The NGOs we collaborate with are also encouraged to provide
outreach support services for the elderly, such as meal deliveries,
home repairs, home cleaning services, and escort services for
medical consultations. These volunteer services are especially
vital for elderly residents with special needs, and have proven very
effective in helping elderly residents become better integrated
into their community. We also encourage other PRH residents to
participate in volunteer activities, giving them opportunities to
motivate and enrich the lives of the elderly living among them.
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REFZ2GHESHE RSBRBAGEY
Full Rent Exemption Scheme EAS Grant

for Elderly Households

Full Rent Exemption Scheme for Elderly Households

HA launched the Trial Scheme on Full Rent Exemption for Elderly
Under-occupation Households in December 2019, which was
subsequently regularised in December 2020. Under the scheme,
elderly PRH tenants who choose to move to smaller flats get to
enjoy lifetime full rent exemption, as part of a scheme that aims
to free up larger units for PRH applicants with larger family sizes.

Up to the end of March 2025, 1 187 applications under the scheme
had been approved. As at the same date, 485 elderly households
had been successfully transferred to suitably-sized PRH units.

Emergency Alarm System (EAS) Grant for the elderly
HA provides a one-off EAS Grant (up to a maximum of $2,500) for
eligible elderly households to cover the cost of installing an EAS.
These systems bring important benefits for elderly residents who
have special needs in relation to accessibility, health and safety.
The EAS Grant also covers mobile EAS products, such as EAS
mobile phones, the dedicated EAS mobile app for smartphones,
and watches with an EAS function.

Up to the end of March 2025, we had approved over 25 000
applications for the grant.
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Enhancing Estate Management

Tenancy arrangements for elderly residents choosing
to reside in Residential Care Homes for the Elderly
(RCHEsS) or joining Portable Social Security Schemes
(PSSS) of the Social Welfare Department

HA has established an arrangement to cater for the needs of PRH
elderly residents who choose to reside in RCHEs (including RCHEs
in both Hong Kong and the Mainland) or return to the Mainland
for good, and to maximise the utilisation of housing resources.
This arrangement involves issuing a Letter of Assurance or a Letter
of Reinstatement to elderly residents joining these schemes to
facilitate their surrender of their PRH flats or deletion of their
names from the PRH tenancies. Starting from March 2025, HA
has extended the response period for elderly residents joining
the PSSS from three months to six months, aligning it with that
requirement admission into RCHEs. This helps alleviate concerns
and worries among the elderly about adaptation to long-term
retirement in the Mainland.

Exemption under Well-off Tenants Policies (WTP)
Having regard to the need of those approaching retirement age
to rely on their savings and assets to meet their ends, households
with all elderly members aged 60 or above are exempted from
income and asset declaration under the WTP.

Trial of door sensor installation

HA has launched pilot schemes in Wan Hon Estate and Sheung
Lok Estate to install sensors on the entrance doors of PRH flats
occupied by single elderly tenants or elderly families. The scheme
will enable the tenants’ family members and/or friends to learn
about the situation of entering and leaving the residence of the
elderly tenants concerned, and provide timely care and support
to the elderly as necessary.

Trial of installation of sensors in accessible toilets

HA has been piloting the installation of smart fall detection
systems in some of its accessible toilets. These systems can
detect incidents such as falls, fainting, or prolonged inactivity,
prompting rapid responsive assistance in case of emergencies.
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Financial Review

MBRE

1. ZEEFIRE
HAEFRAMBIEERE BEEFNENE
EEMEBMERER TRBEEAMY
2024/25 F EMEREER570.29 (BT -

mEEFIRE AR

Consolidated Operating Account Surplus

1 1 .28{’-57_5

HERERENFIRE R
Rental Housing Operating
Account Surplus ($1,128 million)

2. ExEHEIRE
HEZGNREEEBRNKRANMAS - HHA
BeEERE - ZIRE BT » 2024/25 FEH B H
5£3031187T - f£2025F3A31H BEEME
CRREBHBROVSBL - FEEELHE
2024/25 FE B EEEIRE B A.7% °

ReRkiREAS

Cash and Investment Portfolio

169.82:-

RERIRTIFH
Cash and Bank deposits
($16,982 million)

Financial Highlights

1. Consolidated Operating Account

The Consolidated Operating Account summarises the
operating results for Rental Housing, Commercial and
Home Ownership Assistance activities. Excluding capital
expenditure, it records an overall operating surplus of
$7,029 million in 2024/25.

BXEFEFIRE BER
Commercial Operating
Account Surplus
($1,353 million)

45.48:-

AR BEMEFIRE R
Home Ownership Assistance
Operating Account Surplus
($4,548 million)

2. Funds Management Account

Income and expenditure relating to the management
of HA's investment portfolio are included in the Funds
Management Account, which showed a surplus of
$3,031 million for 2024/25. As at 31 March 2025, HA's cash
and investment balance stood at $63,765 million. For 2024/25,
the overall return was 4.7%.

eSS
Equities ($7,551 million)

392.32.

HEESRAER

Principal protection placements
with the Exchange Fund
($39,232 million)
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Mr Anthony CHIU
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(up to 31 March 2025)

XBREE
Mr Alan MAN
Hoi-leung
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Ms Ann AU
Chor-kwan, JP
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*NEEELZ L, BBS, MH, JP
Ms Melissa Kaye PANG, BBS, MH, JP
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BEY Lt
Ms Jeny YEUNG Mei-chun
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BEEL+, MH
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his representative
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BEEEZES

The Hong Kong Housing Authority

FEE® Housing Department
EEREEWER/REBEER Permanent Secretary for Housing / Director of Housing
Z{M#FLZ L Miss Charmaine LEE Pui-sze

FEREIWER/
BIER (RER)
ERELt
Deputy Secretary for
Housing / Deputy
Director (Strategy)
Ms Estrella CHEUNG
King-sing

BEER (REERE)
BRFELL
Assistant Director
(Strategic Planning)
Ms Cherie YEUNG
Lok-sze
FERERDBEWER
(BER#E) / PHEER
(BEHE

U8 % Fogun
Principal Assistant
Secretary for Housing
(Policy Support) /
Assistant Director
(Policy Support)

Ms Rachel YIU
Mung-hin

FERERDENER
(MERE) /PEER
(LEEE)

E 3k p
Principal Assistant
Secretary for Housing
(Private Housing) /

Assistant Director
(Private Housing)

Miss Venus TSOI
Yuen-san

PEER (EEER)
BRELL

Assistant Director
(Housing Subsidies)
Ms Carol KONG
Kit-lin

BIER (BRKREE)
Deputy Director

(Development and
Construction)

Mr Daniel LEUNG
Hung-wai

BEER (T5)(—)

IRELE

Assistant Director
(Project) 1

Mr Dominic WONG
Kwok-hing

HMIEER (L) (=)

MEBEERE

Assistant Director
(Project) 2

Mr Andrew LAM
Ching-wah

BEER (I5)(2)

EEREE

Assistant Director
(Project) 3

Mr Max WONG
Chi-chung

BEER (BERMRE)

BERMEL

Assistant Director
(Development &
Procurement)

Dr Sherman YIP
Shing-lam

BIER (EHER)
BRELE
Deputy Director
(Estate Management)

Mr Ricky YEUNG
Yiu-fai

PRER (RBER) ()
mXEut

Assistant Director
(Estate Management) 1

Ms Hamidah
HAROON

PEER (EHER) (D)
BRRLLE
Assistant Director

(Estate Management) 2
Mr YIM Ka-ho

PRER (BHER)(2)
BT E

Assistant Director
(Estate Management) 3
Mr Michael HONG
Wing-kit

¢ BUBSHRBFEERSENMERNAE
BFERETES

BB R (BBEL)
EmELE

Deputy Director
(Corporate Services)

Mr Davey CHUNG
Pui-hong

B ER (1TH)
EBRELZLT
Assistant Director

(Administration)

Miss Kathleen AU
Oi-ning

BEER (B5)
REBfM L L

Assistant Director
(Finance)

Ms Grace CHAN
Chui-mei

BRER CEREH)
HREL L

Assistant Director
(Legal Service)
Mrs Kitty YAN
LAM Kit-yi

P 8%
Appendices

BUEEMA e
BIWE L

Head, Independent
Checking Unit #

Mr Rudolf LAU

Fu-kwok

HEEZRENHERTEMAEF

The Independent Checking Unit is set up under the Office of the Permanent
Secretary for Housing to implement building control on Housing Authority’s
new development works and existing buildings.

#* Note:

IR RFBETERRFME 2HIA LFRBUAAR

(BREZE 202543 A318H) ¢

This chart shows officers taking up permanent posts at D2 or above only

(information as at 31 March 2025).
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Awards and Recognitions

2024/25 FEFEXRRIBR T T EF

Industrial Awards and Community Recognitions 2024/25

4815 /18481 B Award / Winning Project

RN EZE Development and Construction

2024 Ehx R
ghgmsn

=rE '’

EEZ

DABRBEERMAE2024
AFHERET R RIREW — EEEE  5EME
weEeRUALEEERER
Asia Pacific Leadership in Green Building Awards 2024
Leadership in Sustainable Design and Performance — Residential Projects:
Highly Commended Award

Public Housing Development at Queen'’s Hill, Fanling
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HKIA Award 2024

Hong Kong — Residential Building: Merit Award

Special Award — Human & Social Inclusion: Special Award

Special Award — Sustainable Architecture: Finalist
Public Housing Development at Queen'’s Hill, Fanling

Hong Kong — Mixed-use Building: Merit

Public Housing Development at Northwest Kowloon Reclamation Site 6 Hoi Tat Estate

115 BIM 2025
RBEAEXRE — 28 (EHEESB/ Att) : BFEAR

AutoGen : —ERRNEEEFEIH B B KR B ERET G T A
BIM Automation Arena 2025

Visual Programme — Corporation (Hong Kong, China & Mainland China based):

Honourable Mention

AutoGen: An Automated Rule-based Generative Design and Performance Evaluation

Platform for Master Planning

BHEREEKRE2024
ERIEEEE — HEEY (BUF - BERUE) : BER
BEBERA

BREEHEE — ZEREY  BRER
MELEIUAEFEERRAR

Quiality Building Award 2024

Hong Kong Non-Residential — New Building

(Government, Institution or Community): Merit
Hoi Tat Connectivity Hub

Hong Kong Residential — Multiple Buildings: Merit
Public Housing Developments at Queen'’s Hill, Fanling

BRERMBE2021-23F8%
AHIFE 1 RE
MEZEFILAEEEERRER
HKILA Award 2021-23
Excellence in Public Development: Silver Award
Public Housing Development at Queen'’s Hill, Fanling

fEE:H8 Awarding Organisation

PRI EREERP N (BE) Z8]
China Green Building & Carbon Neutral (HK)
Council

WRFEEERE®
World Green Building Council

TRREMSEE
The Hong Kong Institute of Architects

ERRECRERZS
The Hong Kong Institute of Building
Information Modelling

IATEXEBEH

TRBERS  TEREMBE -

EREEMEE  BEEIRRMEY

ERFEREEY  HEAEMEY

EEMERER  BEREREEEHEEEDE

ERHERRES

Jointly organised by:

The Hong Kong Construction Association,

The Hong Kong Institute of Architects,

The Hong Kong Institute of Construction
Managers,

The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers,

The Hong Kong Institute of Housing,

The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors,

The Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency,

The Hong Kong Chapter of International
Facility Management Association,

The Real Estate Developers Association of
Hong Kong

IR
The Hong Kong Institute of
Landscape Architects

4815 /15481 B Award / Winning Project
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BERREMBEEEFARHE2023
BER
[#-E2R] HEERILUAEEERREAR
The Hong Kong Institute of Planners Awards 2023
Certificate of Merit

“Embracing Wellbeing with Cultural Heritage” The Public Housing Development

Project at Queen’s Hill, Fanling

BB BMBEE KK 2024

BENH  BER
MaESEL—RMERARATEERENEEREEERTE

The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors Awards 2024

Pre-construction Category: Merit
Public Rental Housing and Subsidised Sale Flats Development at
Queen’s Hill Site 1, Fanling

2024 F[E T R8I 2 A K 5&

TRIAIEMALR — ITRER (SARMKEER) @ 7€
MEEABRAEFEERRER
NREFBRAEEEERIER

QS Awards 2024

QS Awards on Projects (Contract and Financial Management): Bronze Award

Public Rental Housing Development at Fai Ming Estate, Fanling
Public Rental Housing Development at Chun Yeung Estate, Fo Tan

ZHEIE Estate Management

BEERMES 2024 F58
[EREE ]85 ERER
EEFREZE® — BEFRE - BEEREHEEI R B
HKILA Awards 2024
“Landscape Communication” Category: Merit Award
Hong Kong Housing Authority — Realising Well Being:
From guideline to implementation for the community

EREERESZRBE R AR 2024
BEGKHEEER : Sl
PSR BRI S 5
FHER (RERER) : SR
RERIFHIE  BR%
HEBNDEEERBE AR
BREER (RERE) : BER
SEILEREY - BRBRER ERAEERSAE
BHKE (RERE)  BER
BIFEEMLEE /L (E=) =
BHEE (RERE) : BER
FEEHEE (HK) (W)  FEEBHEE (EFE—) (L)
HKIH Elite Awards 2024
Best Crisis Management Team: Excellence Award
Yiu Tung Estate Office
Outstanding Team (Public Housing): Excellence Award
Best Innovative Idea: Merits Award
Property Services Agent of So Uk Estate
Outstanding Team (Public Housing): Merits Award
Local Management Team of Queens Hill Estate, Butterfly Estate Office,
Public Housing Resources Management Sub-section
Outstanding Manager (Public Housing): Merits Award
Assistant Housing Manager / Tenancy (Tuen Mun 3)2
Outstanding Officer (Public Housing): Merits Award

Housing Officer (Butterfly Estate)(4), Housing Officer (Wah Fu | Estate)(9)

P 8%
Appendices

FEZ: B Awarding Organisation

BEREMEE
The Hong Kong Institute of Planners

BEAEMES
The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors

BEAEMEE (THRAEH)
The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors
(Quantity Surveying Division)

EEEEMES
The Hong Kong Institute of
Landscape Architects

TREELESES
The Hong Kong Institute of Housing
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4815 /18481 B Award / Winning Project
EHREE Estate Management

2024 FHRFHEB R R
NEAER
RREREERKIE / ERAEER
The Ombudsman’s Awards 2024
Awards for Officers of Public Organisations
Senior Housing Manager / Public Housing Resources Management

ERBRTIR2024
FE+RELES
W22 TP
FOEE
EEEET 145ARKE
Hong Kong Volunteer Award 2024
Top 10 Caring Estate
Yiu On Estate
Caring Estate
145 public housing estates of Housing Department

2025 FBRIEHRE
RIERE (EMRE) : &5
FEE —[#E- -2 LEREIEER
Hong Kong Flower Show 2025
Design Excellence (Landscape Display): Gold Award
Housing Department — “Well+Being and Smart Homes"” Landscape Design

B 1R Environmental Friendliness

ERGOREAF
REERE | RIFARE

EEREZEGRERR
Hong Kong Green Organisation Certification
Wastewi$e Certificate: Good Level

HKHA Waste Reduction Performance

TRxXEYIRE SRR E 8 2023/24
R (MBEFR)
FRAFEEZEERRNEEE
Commendation Scheme on Source Separation of Commercial and
Industrial Waste 2023/24
Silver Award (Pure Office)
Hong Kong Housing Authority Headquarters and Housing Department

HHE=E I Corporate Services

The 2024 International Business Awards

Company History Publication (Up to 50 Years): Gold Award
From Shelter to Home: Striding across 50 Years of Public Housing
(Commemorative book of HA’s 50t anniversary)

The 38t ARC Awards International
Non-Profit Organisation (Print AR): Bronze Award
HA Annual Report 2022/23

[ B0 R BIE | #48 2023/24
EE S FRULRIOREIE]EF
FEE

Caring Organisation 2023/24
15 Years Plus Caring Organisation Logo
Housing Department

2024 FRIFE R R

DNEHLE - FRER
FEZ

The Ombudsman’s Awards 2024

Public Organisation: Award on Mediation
Housing Department

fEE4 18 Awarding Organisation

RFEERE
The Office of The Ombudsman

EBTIEERR

Agency for Volunteer Service

BREXICEHE

Leisure and Cultural Services Department

BREHEZEES
Environmental Campaign Committee

BEREE
Environmental Protection Department

The Stevie® Awards

MerComm, Inc

TRt EREHE

The Hong Kong Council of Social Service

HFEERE
The Office of The Ombudsman

BMATBFHNERE

Summary of Statistics
01 PR A
Allocation of Public Rental Housing 4
¥
t

@ L
" /f Public Rental Housing

Applications

22 661
'+ 57 059 ,,

&&A

L&

5%«%?! =g gvf""gency
Emergency (/\‘

Flats 0 o “
Pkeiiple 0

DIES N =]

Junior Civil Servants

e 1 144
i 3 306

BEimnzE
Compassionate
Rehousing

Flats 320 B
e 663 | w

Y

o 29 114
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ERERR AR S

Estate Clearance and
Major Repairs

e O
PAe!okae o

BERAE/ mTERERR

Government Clearance Projects /
Urban Renewal Authority

e 1 014
e 1 886

. P

CE B R ]

Various Transfer Schemes

re 3 975
e 10 560

e 13 474
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Statistics

|E%/Eﬁ
Estates / Courts

RARRAH
Authorised Population

2 089 798 ks

TEEE

Interim Housing

2t 2 093 142 /

74

HAEAR
Public Rental Housing (PRH)!"!

EEEHENE (BB)P
Home Ownership Scheme (HOS)??!

BARESEERE (RASEE) /
PEABRERRETEIP

Private Sector Participation Scheme (PSPS) /
Middle Income Housing Scheme (MIHS)!
HEBHEE GAETE)

Tenants Purchase Scheme (TPS)

AT EE / EREETE /
FREETTEE

Buy or Rent Option Scheme (BRO) /
Mortgage Subsidy Scheme (MSS) /
Green Form Subsidised Home
Ownership Scheme (GSH)E!

EPHERBEEAR (A58 F) U

Subsidised Sale Flats Resident
[4]

Population (estimated no.)

1089 700

if 85
Appendices

BEENEE
Stock of Flats

81330 088

EREXsTE/

4248 594

NOWeasenird 99 834 4
PSPS / MIHSI! REHMNBEN

Unsold flats

BB (CHEEN)E
TPS (sold flats)!¢!

#w 1355 830 /

FRRFULA H 0 Transit centres 2
HEH L/ '8 'I:H %EL\L% A HEFRAI AL Authorised rental population 28
No. of Rental / Subsidised Sale Flats _
under Construction el Nz £
#) 52 & Kindergartens 253
1 37 608 212 Schools 251
EEZ8EMAE = Libraries and study rooms 210
& H) R B 4L & BT Welfare and amenity premises 6826
#0z Shops 3203
HmEL (BEARENA) 1076
Market stalls (including cooked food stalls)
T E AL Factory units 3304

i Notes:

[ BERERPTEEEREAREMMNHEESARE (ABE) B A B/ EREEHE/ RRERFIREREERLEFS (BEE) BJE
Public rental housing (PRH) estates exclude Tenants Purchase Scheme (TPS) estates, Buy or Rent Option Scheme (BRO) / Mortgage Subsidy Scheme (MSS) / Green
Form Subsidised Home Ownership Scheme (GSH) courts and Home Ownership Scheme (HOS) courts with PRH units.
BE/AAZEHNEEROEE=HL2ALENEERS -

HOS/PSPS courts include pre-Phase 3B HOS courts.

IR ER &/ ERE XS/ ARERHEELTRE B HEA B/ EREEFBEUNEERES (KE0) -

BRO/MSS/GSH courts exclude one HOS court (Tin Chung Court) with BRO/MSS units.

EOHEFREREEAMBEREIRER  MAZEHE/ REASREFREE  THAAMEFZ/ EREXHI/ GREFHILEEHIEUNER - BARER
RAERAHTISEEEN (BEHXHENELL) HER - BEAASTRERBEMNGFTEETNGRAEFPRAAEERNEH -

Subsidised sale flats population includes those residing in HOS, PSPS/MIHS, BRO/MSS/GSH and TPS flats but exclude those residing in flats that are tradable

in the open market (flats with premium paid). Figure for resident population is based on the General Household Survey conducted by the Census and Statistics
Department.

BE/AZEE/ hEABRERERE/ A Batdl/ SR B XS/ G REFTHEURFEIEAHTISEENEN (EEE=HL 2 EN S S
RIHEHEL) - BFEERE LB

HOS/PSPS/MIHS/BRO/MSS/GSH flats include flats that are tradable in the open market (flats sold prior to HOS Phase 3B or flats with premium paid), but exclude unsold flats.
BEHENHEAESUBEAIELARTSEENEN (BEHHENEL)  ETERERREEREZESMNEM -

TPS sold flats include flats that are tradable in the open market (flats with premium paid), but exclude cases in which buyers had sold back their flats to the Hong
Kong Housing Authority (HA).

2

[3

[4

[5

[6

BRO / MSS / GSHE!
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03 AHEEEW/ EEERR/ SERERS® 04 HEEE#EB
Distribution of PRH Estates / HOS Courts / GSH Courts Rental Housing Stock
ot ' 5
/ /| \ v *E-{I/ZA\E PRH EStateS[” E ﬁcﬁ%ﬁiﬂaats lﬁ Z:.iiiié\ipulation
(N '

v

14
\& v 1 I=E 2 *E 3 HE
:i. / Central and Western Eastern Southern
HguE 5
S

H 636

ii 1949 H 35968 ’1 92 677 H 24 927 ’1 64 086

/ /
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o] ) ~ /
& M \
. L v
& = . 13 lll-. / s ok i
" o ) 15 |!-' -IF ﬁ‘ " 4 J v Eﬁla%ds . 5 qux'l?siim Mong~ 6 %gﬁszhui Po .
' X \ i Bi2s10 jfesaor Hi2s20 725 7169030 169 193
NEW TERRITORIES e 1 d b { y
" v | .
\ -.. E 12 M .:. ) 516 ﬂ ﬁ%iﬁin City ; 8 Gi\?ojr:;mTai Sin . 9 E:%v#?n Tong ;
.-.,.4'\ ca, P T f v -EE 29629 )}l 70625 176 008 A 192111 117 146560 4 359 159
\‘i, - -E};] - 'i-'. \ \ \
\o / - V105 NH g /\ VI
T — T I =
'~ ’ \ F 6. EZEW;:ONL...:-:_E o 17 \ ~,L 1 Kwa| Tsmg 1 1 'I%L%:n Wan 1 'IT-%EE Mun
) / \y o e o . -_:_. o _9';!35_ . -L._{! \s M' -E | 103314 'Jl 264 102 -E'g 21729 "Jl 54 276 -E'g 68773 'Jl 161 479
A 5° u o
ks &
g o N l_r.:li i‘ 1 3 Yuen Long 1 ﬂ:o%h 1 5 'Ij';ii?;o
1 i - 4 3 T L) b »”
L LN HONG 2w \,-‘ -EE 66 966y 181484 -E'E 32038y 81414 -E'g 22573 1 54548
LANTAU ISLAND / 1 v . o 9 ‘J
I .-;l 3 ‘
\ o B 16 27 17 == | &t
V - e Sha Tin ; S'.al Kung ; Total E E 830088
‘: '1.'\ , - N -EE 78165 15 194517 -E'g 27822 4 72512 ,lJl 2089 798

AHBEEEE
Public Rental Housing (PRH)
Estates

=195

BERHEENE (BRE) Bj
Home Ownership Scheme
(HOS) Courts

=173

ZREETE (REBRE) B
Green Form Subsidised Home
Ownership Scheme (GSH) Courts

=6

FEERE Interim Housing

1

P9

Tuen Mun

-Eg 4655 4y 3344

& Note:

[ BFTEEEREEEREE TATHEMBRESEN -

o
[=N-]
Total

EE4655
W 3344

The figures do not cover the rental flats sold under the Tenants Purchase Scheme.
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05 BE+FLEFEREE

Public Housing Production in the Past 10 Years

HFHEE{V Rental Flats

21764
17 658
14 264 .
11276 X
9742 8 960
l :
966 857" 975
0 140 0 0 0 L 0 312 64
-

15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25
14264 11416 13413 17658 10107 7227 21764 1169 9806 9935

B E5852Z8% (EFZ®) The Hong Kong Housing Authority (HA) ! W EEHE (%) Housing Society (HS) 2

HEE Sale Flats B!
14 126
. 9730
5000
4 050
3017 2 998 21360
= l ﬂ) l
248 300
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

J a
15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25
988 3017 248 9121 4638 5000 4050 9730 2360 14426

=g Haw W Hs

EF Year 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25

#5t Grand Total 15 252 14 433 13 661 26779 14 745 12 227 25 814 10 899 12 166 24 361

#* Notes:

[1

| FEeHAFEREEEREAHEERE (RR)  THEREUMGEEFEREE (BR) BERARHEAMNEN - ARERELERGWAHA B8/ ZE2EX
HEIMEL AT BEER -
Production of HA rental flats includes public rental housing (PRH), interim housing flats and flats of projects transferred from the Home Ownership Scheme (HOS) to PRH. Flats
under projects built as rental housing but subsequently transferred to the Buy or Rent Option Scheme (BRO) / Mortgage Subsidy Scheme (MSS) housing are not included.

2] FHHETEEEESREHERENRERELTENELN - RETBEN BN EMRARPALOML - WHPBABN —EHETES -
Production of HS rental flats includes rental flats and the Senior Citizen Residences Scheme (SEN) flats. The SEN flats are offered on a long term lease basis and a
lump sum consideration is payable for each SEN flat by the applicant.
[B] BFTRETRERRBRK 2015/16 &% 2020/21 FEREHEB EEELL -
Figures do not include the subsidised sale flats provided by the Urban Renewal Authority (URA) in 2015/16 and 2020/21.
(4] FEENEHESNEEERERE  AAZEHE Al BrtEl/ SREXEHENERBENE (BERFE) W8 -
Production of HA subsidised sale flats includes the flats under the HOS, PSPS, BRO / MSS and Green Form Subsidised Home Ownership Scheme (GSH).
5] EHEHHEFEEUNEREREEEREHE  RUBETEFENEHLESEER HEM -
Production of HS subsidised sale flats includes the flats under FFSS, Sandwich Class Housing Scheme (SCHS) and Subsidised Sale Flats Projects.
N BARFRERRSEETE  RER2022/23FERERL7 600 EREELMHET BRFEAN —EMEFEE2023/24 FF - LAB2022/23 FEEKRN AR E

BWIE
Due to the outbreak of COVID-19, about 7 600 PRH flats originally scheduled for completion in end of 2022/23 was delayed by about one to two quarters and with
completion deferred to 2023/24, resulting in an exceptionally low PRH production in 2022/23.

WEEF LT

Queens Hill Estate, Fanling

Environmental
Report

T

11 5dd
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Governance

Chaired by the Director of Housing, the Housing Department
Environmental, Health and Safety Committee is responsible for
developing and formulating policies and strategic directions in
the areas of environment, health, safety and sustainability of HA.

Green Building Recognition

Buildings designed and constructed by HA must meet the
assessment criteria of the Hong Kong Green Buildings Council
(HKGBC)'s Building Environmental Assessment Method Plus
for New Buildings (BEAM Plus NB), which provides a lifecycle
assessment of the environmental attributes of new buildings. We
aim for achieving the Gold rating standard or above for all new
buildings. The BEAM Plus NB ratings for buildings completed in
2024/25 are shown in the table on the next page:

g R
K o] :
?::I‘:E Green Living ; .

Environmental Targets

]

;
:
Er
:
E
Er
€
&
=
=

EEE]

P9 A B R
Wo Tin Estate, Tuen Mun

RR\E

Environmental Report

I

EZIEB Project

HEEF1.2REETHR (£48) NB V1.2 Provisional Assessment (Gold)
EEABOBALEREEHEREEE —H Public Housing Development at Tai Wo Hau Road Phase 1, Kwai Chung
EREABEAEEEZEEEI%E = Public Housing Development at Tai Wo Hau Road Phase 2, Kwai Chung
BREEREAEEEERE Public Housing Development at Tak Tin Street, Kwun Tong

HEEF 20T ETHR (£48) NB V2.0 Provisional Assessment (Gold)
FREI109EALREEZEEE Public Housing Development at Tung Chung Area 109

A5 2B3 SR N EEEERAtE] Public Housing Development at Kai Tak Site 2B3

B 2BA SR AR N E EE %R 51 E] Public Housing Development at Kai Tak Site 2B4
LEMABREREEZRE Public Housing Development at Junction Road, Lok Fu
ERAFHEREEEERE Public Housing Development at Shek Li Street, Kwai Chung
HERYERAEREELEE Public Housing Development at Ying Yip Road, Tseung Kwan O
FREENEANEEEZREEFE—HME =L Public Housing Development at Tung Chung Area 42 Phases 1 and 2
MeEEK A EREEERE Public Housing Development at San Wan Road, Fanling

ERW (REZH) EEFTE] Redevelopment of Mei Tung Estate (Older Part)

SERMEESHALREEEEE Public Housing Development at Wah King Street, Pok Fu Lam South
TCRAREM B SR ib 8 A & B EE BT &l Public Housing Development at Wang Chau Site B, Yuen Long
HEEE1.2MBEATEHR (£4) NB V1.2 Final Assessment (Gold)

%8 Kai Cheung Court

§RE£%8 Kam Chun Court

FMAT Wo Tin Estate [l

EMET Ching Tin Estate

= WESREE Heng King House, Lai King Estate

#HE Yu Nga Court

BEIEUPE£E Hei Yiu House, Lai Yiu Estate

{258 Yu Tak Court

EEF 2.0 NEATHR (81£24) NB V2.0 Final Assessment (Platinum)

B E%E Ching Fu Court

R EERER

L L OO L CL L L E LR L L

l BREE®
Ching Fu Court, Tsing Yi

02
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TEBRG — HHMAK
TERRFRERTK - BARHILE - AKHHE
RERBECEHNFRE - TRERHA 2016
FEARMAEEERR  BE2024/25FF5%
& AHUMBRBERRLFRS -

R ARTT %R = KRBT

RIEHEERIRIRE - R R R EET
TR T R RS - AR BRI
MHEERFEE - IMARR - BENAERBE
B BOCERE - MAEE  ERSREMPERE -
BB R MECRE R BRERARIEN -

HERBRHEF SREERETERRL
Podium planters utilising ZIS at Chiu Ming Court, Tseung Kwan O

Zero Irrigation System (ZIS) — Water conservation

ZIS is an irrigation system for planters that collects and reuses
rainwater, significantly reducing the amount of water needed
to maintain estate greenery. ZIS has been used in new public
housing projects since 2016. By the end of 2024/25, ZIS had been
installed in 44 estates.

Micro-climate studies & Air Ventilation Assessment
To make better environmental decisions when designing estates,
we use micro-climate studies and Air Ventilation Assessments
for environmental factors such as wind flow, natural building
ventilation, daylight penetration, thermal comfort, and air pollutant
emissions in relation to estate sites and buildings. This facilitates
a better design for reductions in lowering energy usage and
carbon emissions.

RERMERETERRSE  EVNERRRE
A flourishing garden adopted ZIS at Kai Yan Court, Kai Tak

lﬁMmegﬁﬁ%ﬁ
Planters with ZIS in Sheung Shui

RRAM

BFIZ FREHIE R EEN - AR ERIERSE
£ B 35% MR ETERIMNG - BRIER - 18
SRS - FREURR T IRMBR A RERIKR -
HfIBcE BB EMAMRR T HEBRNARE
R = BB ) BV IR AT AT 1 - IR /R H
REEELEFERE MERT - BIEMEAM
RRLTEM -

1 TIE B IRAMBIR TR - 195 [ ET
SR 2 00T FTET AR — B - YE R E
3 AHABESERERE [REERRERE
LB | B -

YK.'TT:

RPN SEHREEEEETNEARERARCBERENA - RTERLHRENERLESETIR (£8)

Our collaborative research institute conducted tests on different GGBS concrete formulations (from left) before applying GGBS to the test piles of a pilot project

o+

BRRE\E

Environmental Report

AREEHEBEARR  EEEAEME TERER  MEERER
The domestic blocks at Fu Tip Estate, Tai Po are positioned to form open
breezeways for better natural ventilation

Green materials

Over the years, 35% of the cement used to produce precast
facades, precast staircases, precast partition walls, precast
concrete panels and precast refuse chutes has been replaced
by the mandatory use of green construction material Ground
Granular Blast-furnace Slag (GGBS). Currently, we are working with
academics and local concrete suppliers to explore the possibility
of using high volumes of GGBS to replace cement, and extending
its application to foundation piles, pile caps and other concrete
members in public housing developments.

The specifications for green materials that are included in our new
works projects are all aligned with BEAM Plus for New Buildings
version 2.0. We regularly review and update our specifications to
align with the HKGBC's Green Product Accreditation & Standards
Scheme.
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RAEMEME

e EGHEERRMGAERTELEGARAN
SACBENE - HEEE A A AR DRI
CEEEMERE AT - BEREERENRE
EEEWETIRENEEE - TEEBTRAXE
FE PRI R MRIR -

ETHERRME  BERBTFEBMH . 2BE
TFTREXERE UEREIRE BHeEL—4%
Lk - WM MEHERE EARIAN — KL
ME - Wat ML Rl B A B IR AR 1L & B P K 34
MPFRE - BLEBBRUHTAITHRESRRE
EEBRFNREFERR  ERER -

mBEREMLE

Carbon Emission Estimation

A sxaR

Renewable energy

B mrsin

Planting

\ll\\\

Ho_FeREEME
Total CO, Emission

Carbon Emission Estimation (CEE)

The CEE enables us to assess the carbon dioxide emissions of
buildings over their life cycles, information that can be used to
reduce carbon emissions. Implementing the CEE allows us to
establish emission benchmarks for both individual housing blocks
and entire housing estates throughout the project cycle. These
benchmarks facilitate comparisons of the emissions performances
across various buildings and estates.

The CEE encompasses carbon dioxide emissions arising from
materials consumed during construction, materials used in
structures, the electricity consumed by communal building services
(BS) installations, and demolition activities. It also considers the
emission off-sets generated by renewable energy applications
and greening activities. This data is vital for setting achievable
improvement goals and enhancing the long-term sustainability
of our estate designs.

BETHENERH
Conducted for

1 7 onects

BERAEMEREES
st =R A
Estimated reduction in
carbon emissions since
roll-out by

18%

HRBERS
PV Systems

1486

A BAEREIR
BMT2ERANBAREBREDEREEN
ABEAREERE  TLAXBEHRAAMN L

WEEFS - BEXRERUABERLREE
BRTMHEENLPREBERERARENTKY
1.5% o

2024/25% F - RPERBLREREMEK 28 ER
MRGEANRBERS  THRETCRBEERDE
HibAEAE  RENNREERL

HERB A
Chiu Ming Court, Tseung Kwan O

pzen1O2Esazxs

Installed in 162 new domestic blocks,
with a total system capacity of

RRE\E

Environmental Report

RENEEBHRUEABELRBERSR
A flexible PV system at Siu Sai Wan Estate in
Eastern District

Renewable energy

We have been installing grid-connected photovoltaic (PV) systems
in new PRH estates for over a decade, as well as participating
in the feed-in tariff schemes of Hong Kong's electricity supply
companies. Currently, our PV systems are producing renewable
energy that accounts for at least 1.5% of each building’s communal
electricity consumption.

In 2024/25, we retrofitted another 28 flexible solar PV systems at
existing PRH blocks. We will continue to identify other PRH blocks
in existing estates that are suitable for PV systems.
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B 49 BE TR
FZeREMEETMEETHENBERBED
RE_ANERARGN S BEAEERL _HE
(AVLED) fREASS - FTH & R M AR METRE AV B
EHEERD  ERKBRASER BWEFES -
F A o A ERNTFT R LT R AT
AiCEBEENIEE

RBBETE BMASBAEHEFPEXKEE
EERERKEIEANFEERRA - BHFAME
EEETAEAOAENE LK [ EEER
Rl BTIBRARERBIOIRESANESD - KR
MEKEAE HEHEPAHERH  LEEER
ENRERE - BBV K B ARLIR -

RAEREREARMTHNRAREMERE
—REMA/BTNR_GELERAR  ENEHEN
H AR RBRENTT A RER - hEBRSERE
BEMV I —mE IR

A Smart Meter Monitoring and Energy
Information Display System

| BRI RBERRS

£ L.,
LS

_Eum- ==

EREC R
B2l L] 123688 m
P AR FREPHER
18 L o 1418 e
MsHER MR- L ]

HH

srmanduezrms .
ARNFTETEARBNTYRRYEERES SESFEHH
Average energy consumption of

BS installations in communal areas of
49 domestic blocks at design stage is

20 6 TRE
° kWh/m?/per annum

Energy conservation

Both domestic and non-domestic areas of HA estates utilise
two-level lighting systems for barrier-free access, as well as
energy-efficient LED luminaires. Our new lift systems run with
energy-efficient gearless drives that utilise permanent magnet
synchronous motors for enhanced efficiency and reliability, and
regenerative power is used for lift systems with motor ratings of
8kW and above.

On the public education front, we encourage PRH tenants to adopt
more sustainable energy habits. The Smart Meter Monitoring
and Energy Information Display Systems being installed at the
main entrance lobbies of all our new domestic blocks display
each block’s monthly consumption of electricity, gas and fresh
water, as well as the consumption of neighbouring blocks. This
information helps foster public awareness of energy conservation,
and spurs friendly competition in energy-saving.

We continue to replace defective public lighting fixtures with
LED bulkheads in all the communal areas of existing PRH blocks,
as well as replacing conventional illuminated exit and directional
signs with energy-efficient LED versions.

BHEEF LB

Queens Hill Estate, Fanling

EBAR®SHAEE

Electricity consumption in the public areas of estates

iF—f‘;"Year 15/16 16/17 17/18 18/19

BRRE\E

Environmental Report

BRITAWM (£) MRKSREER
Ping Shek Estate, Kwun Tong (left) and Wing Cheong Estate, Sham Shui Po

19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25

WP RER (BFEATRE) Average electricity consumption (kWh per flat per month)

& st TAE

SF - RMEERETN 14EARFETREET

EHIREA - BERMPIEN - BRI FEKE

9F§£\ﬂ&u+’2\)=kfﬁ'J5Kﬁ% ERERREE
RETIRE - WEBINZEFADNREXNE -

%W)\Eﬁ*EJrI{’E °

Carbon audit

This year we continue to carry out regular carbon audit exercises
in 14 selected typical domestic blocks to monitor their carbon
emissions. Given the rising number of non-standard block
designs introduced, we will select three more non-typical blocks
for conducting carbon audits from the recently completed PRH
projects based on the energy design standards adopted.

B2011/125E
14 asmpsxmomenrs

nxmesamsnts | G0/
Against 2011/12 carbon footprint of o

14 typical housing blocks on average
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PHEWHZLIRIEES
BIREEIE

EMEEYEIE R A REE
EFZEFERB THMEBEAQHEBREEA
% EREAN X ERRRRESEENEMN
BEEUCR O MR & ] - DI RBEKRE LY
HibAEEmR °

ik ETE

FARME0BERKEPETAICRZ TIE - #
BREFNMBESZRESEY  EEGEER =
FRBFMERRE  FROREE  HEREM -

RERTBABMARELER  TE8EERZE
BAPESFMETHARRNME REERBEZ
EWMLIEEMAEERG] MR EAREN
ARGHRBBALE Y LHEHARR - FEESD

ETHABBEANA MEEERE]  #F
RATARIARRUR -

BHERBEFRLOER2E EBHAKE] 5
2 WMHEEEA ZSEHELN1 2808KE
(BIER600HE4) -

BRERELE—  —HLAEEERRFETREANEAEDY - AREESEIELY - HiE
EMRARE

Felled wood from Phases 1 and 2 of Ching Hong Road North, Tsing Yi was salvaged and used in community
engagement workshop to produce artworks and wooden benches

Greening and Tree Management in PRH Estates

Yard waste treatment and upcycling

When trees are felled at our new housing project sites and existing
PRH estates, suitable timber will be sent to Y * PARK, the yard
waste recycling centre operated by the Environmental Protection
Department, for shredding and recycling into mulch or other
appropriate products.

Greening improvement
Greening improvements through the introduction of lawns and
a diverse range of flowering plants were carried out at 20 PRH
estates during the year. Such improvements helped create pleasant
living environments, offering lush greenery, fresh air, and peaceful
spots for residents to enjoy.

To ensure the trees on our estates remain healthy and pose no
safety issues for residents, we carry out a tree risk assessment
exercise every year. Using HA's web-based Enterprise Tree
Management System via a mobile app, tree inspectors are able
to easily locate individual trees and record their condition. HA's
centralised electronic tree database, which utilises the Geographic
Information System, keeps our tree data up to date.

We regularly invite keen local residents to join our Estate Tree
Ambassador (ETA) scheme and help with our tree monitoring
work. Currently there are about 1 280 ETAs (including around
600 pupils).

REHFEZEH

B ELEER

BMBEENRRIE BEREZBARER#ET
REMAFELRZSR  BRRREDHE - FH
PAMERRE -5 FA - HME10EE 8
SBPERE - 20 EEHET— RINE(ES) - I
V0 EEMHITH R REFTE] : X FIFA Facebook
BEH BEEAMESE - B8R HESEHEN  AE
REBRRENE - RARHE -

I PNERESR[BEWHMAKREES
An ETA activity joined by primary school pupils

BRARBAE
Green Offices

0

FEEERLENEHRE EZEANNAKE
ZINEEFREAENER AR ZINEEFRRAENERLAR
822023/24 FEKFHENEZ
Paper consumption

in HA offices —

Meeting the target of
maintaining comparable

BIBEERIEN 6% (B22018/19 E#EF4Htk)  consumption to that of
2023/24 under comparable
operating conditions conditions

EEERAETNHES
(E22018/19 EL#EF 8L

Electricity consumption in HA offices
(against the base year 2018/19)

$13.92%

Exceeded our target of a 6% reduction
(against the base year 2018/19)

RR\E

Environmental Report

Engaging PRH Tenants

Organising green activities

Among our environmental responsibilities are those of raising
awareness of green and sustainability issues among our PRH
communities, and organising green events that give tenants
an opportunity to play their part in “going green”. During the
year, we organised tree planting days in 10 estates, held a series
of greening activities in 20 estates, and conducted community
garden programmes in 10 estates. Channels such as Facebook,
the Housing Channel, and displays of posters and banners were
used throughout the year to publicise our green initiatives and
further our public education efforts.

TEREABERA
A Tree Planting Day at Shek Wai Kok Estate, Tsuen Wan

b
N )

E22023/24 FEXFHENEE
Water consumption in HA
Headquarters (HAHQ) -
Meeting the target of
maintaining comparable
consumption to that of 2023/24
under comparable operating
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FRETBFHME Summary of Statistics

TIREEEHRBEABET New Works Projects and Existing Housing Estates

gEiR;H4E Energy Consumption

EIHAERER
Energy consumed

RERWHIEEIREFEE (TEE) Energy consumption in existing housing estates (kWh)
ERARMETNAES

Electricity consumption in public areas of estates 125 160420
EWMARMHNFHREE (BFEAH) 4520
Average electricity consumption in public areas of estates (per flat/month) :
RGN RIRELEN A BERLRE 1564718
Renewable energy generated from PV panels
EBETREAEENERERE (TJKEH) Energy consumption by construction contractors (GJ)

s L S W =
i%;éxﬁiﬁﬁ’]wxﬁi/éﬁi . o 2105 598
Diesel consumption for construction activities
R B M SOmE R 4215278
Diesel consumption for transportation of construction waste
BEEHHNAES 50 005
Electricity consumption for construction activities
BREWEVREEE 29 839

Gasoline consumption for contract cars

BEREHEMK Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emissions

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

REEPEERAENAZREHGEE (AM_S{RESE / F75K)

GHG emission intensity in existing housing domestic blocks (tonnes CO2e/m?)

SIEEAERRA T O 0024 0024 0024 0023 0.022 0.021
verage of domestic block types

RXkE

Water consumed

B ERAKE
Water recycled

KEREHE Water Management

FIEEE (ZHK)
New works projects (m3)
BERWMARMA (L5K)

Public areas of existing housing estates (m?3)

3309078 910 588

2 373 904 _

EE K EREE

BETMEE
Recycled Public fill Landfill

BEYEE Waste Management

FITEEENEYERES (QH) Amount handled in new works projects (tonnes)

=
BEREY 125.68 = 30.95
Hazardous waste
FEEEY 694 311 2307 454 480 579

Non-hazardous waste

RERAIEYEEE (QH) Amount handled in existing housing estates (tonnes)
JEHEZEEY Non-hazardous waste
REAR

24080 - _
Paper
BB
Plastic 2 540 _ _
i ini 1890 _ _
Aluminium cans
EXY
Used clothes 700 _ _
WIE G
Glass bottles 535 _ _
Agt=

Mooncake boxes 1 _ _

EZE2P A\ E HA Office Premises

#EIRE#E Energy Consumption

EZERQAEWNEIFEIEE (TE) Energy consumption in HA office premises (kWh)
REE

Electricity consumption

FHREE (BHAT)

Average electricity consumption (per staff)

WHMEA Materials Consumption

EZERQIZNWEMEAE Materials consumption in HA office premises

fHE (2/8I)
Paper consumption (reams/staff)

KEFEHE Water Management

EZERAZEMNAKE (LK) Water consumption in HA office premises (m3)
e
HAHQ

FEZEes (B%81)
HAHQ (per staff)

EEKEREE

EEALARELE

o
EEYEE Waste Management Recycled Public fill

EZEETNEYEESE (AM) Amount handled in HAHQ (tonnes)
HEEY Hazardous waste

wHE

Toner cartridges

BEERKEE

Fluorescent lamps and tubes
FEEEY Non-hazardous waste
—REEY

General waste

REAR
Paper

4

S O EaaSESsssssssnass T o4 L

I,

e ==

PR S

HERBABH T ETEE

Tseung Kwan O

BRRE\E

Environmental Report

EIHERER
Energy consumed

30760 586

3040

EERYR
Materials consumed

12.54

Ak
Water consumed

BEFHEARE
Landfill

157

r Podium garden of Chiu Ming Court,

12
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Report of the Director of Audit
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Audit Commission
The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region

Independent Auditor’s Report

Opinion

I have audited the financial statements of the Hong Kong
Housing Authority set out on pages 5 to 44, which
comprise the statement of financial position as at
31 March 2025, and the statement of comprehensive
income, statement of changes in net assets and statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
financial statements, including material accounting policy

information.

In my opinion, the financial statements of the Hong Kong
Housing Authority are prepared, in all material respects, in
accordance with the Financial Arrangements with the Hong
Kong Government and the accounting policies approved by
the Hong Kong Housing Authority, the important features
of which are set out in Notes 1 and 2 to the financial
statements, and have been properly prepared in accordance
with section 14(1) of the Housing Ordinance (Cap. 283).

Yook

REEZER(BFEMRKRM) £ 142)HK K
FiF B FETEAETEST - HRE
ZFREAMAKENEE > HFERA
& O ST EORE MBS R R ST R K
EHEME, B2  MEZFLEA > K
BINEEFEZASG  LEEZTF
HAETHMEESTE - HHEE - &
FrERSHNESTEEE T ENBEE R
HHFE R 4E & -

EEFEZR B BHREEE
HI B

EAEFEZEGHAAEER (FERK
Bl)y % 14Ok - EEREFEZE G H
EAEABRNZHMBEZHE > UkEE
PR Z B G Wi g st BUK B H B
R KEHEHEHIAB/BLHEBHA L EZE
H o M B ®ERSFA R EE R
i & B Y B OA 5 3R BRI -

EREVBERERE TEFEZREY
HEBRNEEEFRZEGRELE
EETT > IR EBEMABR THE AR
BEE2ANER WUFHELELEE
Fog st BB -

EREFEZEGE TRNMBER GH
BHBETEEMWBEREZHAENEMET -

Basis for opinion

I conducted my audit in accordance with section 14(2) of
the Housing Ordinance and the Audit Commission auditing
standards. My responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the financial statements section of my report.
I am independent of the Hong Kong Housing Authority in
accordance with those standards, and I have fulfilled my
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with those
standards. 1 believe that the audit evidence I have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for

my opinion.

Responsibilities of the Hong Kong Housing
Authority for the financial statements

The Hong Kong Housing Authority is responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements in accordance with
section 14(1) of the Housing Ordinance, the Financial
Arrangements with the Hong Kong Government and the
accounting policies approved by the Hong Kong Housing
Authority, and for such internal control as the Hong Kong
Housing Authority determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Hong Kong
Housing Authority is responsible for assessing its ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going

concern basis of accounting.

The Hong Kong Housing Authority is assisted by its
Finance Committee in discharging its responsibilities for

overseeing the financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the
Audit Commission auditing standards will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken

on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Audit
Commission auditing standards, [ exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout
the audit. I also:

— 1identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the

override of internal control;

— obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness

of the Hong Kong Housing Authority’s internal control;

— T EHEEFEZREMRANE:
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— HEERGFEZRGURELEF
REtERAOBEZEERE > LR
BRRENESERSE  AERZLSHFE
HEFKELARR MHITEHSE
AFEZB G RFFELERRE JIHEK
EORSEEHE R MHEEM - 1R K
R EFEERAEEN > AIAE L E
EEFHGETFEAEABTE
HRTHMHEEEBERNE - KSR #’
AR ER A 2 BWEHEF LI
EAABERNESAHRSE - KOVE
Eob e N A T = = o
THESTRE - Al > RERE M=K
BERAEERTEESFEZRE & T AL

EEFELE -

ROE B EEZ A O 8  F
RWENHMLREAFT SRS S
G R E R R BB
A 9 £E 7 K B4 -

FitBER
MR B AR

EE

=&

< $8 76 6657

< # 8 BT & F = o
20254E9H12H

— evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the Hong Kong Housing
Authority; and

— conclude on the appropriateness of the Hong Kong
Housing Authority’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Hong Kong Housing Authority’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If T conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of my auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Hong Kong Housing

Authority to cease to continue as a going concern.

I communicate with the Hong Kong Housing Authority
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that

I identify during my audit.

Prof. LAM Chi Yuen Nelson
Director of Audit

Audit Commission

6th Floor, High Block
Queensway Government Offices
66 Queensway, Hong Kong

12 September 2025



BEFERZEY BHEFEZRY
EZE 2025 4 3 A 31 HILFEENEEWER 2025 £ 3 A 31 HEY %R
CUBSEETAITR) (OB EETTAITR)
HONG KONG HOUSING AUTHORITY HONG KONG HOUSING AUTHORITY
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 AS AT 31 MARCH 2025
(Expressed in millions of Hong Kong dollars) (Expressed in millions of Hong Kong dollars)
2025 2024
b &
2025 2024 Note
bt JEREBEE Non-current assets
Note WsE - TS R Property, plant and equipment 7 183,479 179,503
WA Income EITRHIEAR TR =1E Capital works/projects in progress 8 58,100 47,619
. & Intangible assets 9 258 313
fﬂ%lﬁ(}\ Rental income o 4(a) 26,712 24,539 RS RiToE 10(a) 23 43
B R A EWBA Sales and premium income 4(b) 11,168 22,153 HNEEL S EER Placements with the Exchange Fund 11 35,553 37,833
g A Investment income 4(c) 3,095 3,922 HEEM,BEERER Home Purchase/Home Assistance Loans 12 - -
HAthlr A Other income 4(d) 666 434 277,413 265,316
HLGE IEGS MENEE Current assets
e Inventories 13 2,951 184
. FEUGIRIE ~ H2MTEN A Debtors, deposits and prepayments 14 1,603 1,870
SEa Expenditure JEAE BURF W B B Amount due from the Government 22(b) 48 40
. HNERE TR Placements with the Exchange Fund 11 3,679 2,450
wri » IHemomEl gl s s LY Gl AP ENISRTEX Investments in securities and bank deposits 15 24,064 30,883
HEFH R ZE 6 Government rent and rates 2,397 1,731 SRATLERRFIT & Bk beiiess el @ h 449 460
B =T 2 Maintenance and improvements 5,124 4,796 32,794 35,887
PTEE R 5N Depreciation and amortisation 5,743 5,520 . .
B E BB Expenditure on subsidised sale flats 5 6,073 10,471 AENRR Current liabilities
HA SR Other recurrent expenditure 7,631 7244 FERTIRIE ~ 7S MEAERTZIE  Creditors, deposits and other payables 17 11,558 10,938
B 7 31.48 34.181 JEAS T U A Amount due to the Government 22(c) 1,695 2,865
RiE) : FHE G Lease liabilities 10(b) 18 26
BEEEMaE Provisions and other liabilities 18 2,317 2,316
HIERER Operating surplus 10,156 16,867 15,588 16,145
s . .. y BEE Net current assets 17,206 19,742
JEEEUR A JREE Net non-operating income 6 20 44 REREFH
IR MBI A RN EE Total assets less current
FENEER Surplus for the year 10,176 16,911 KazE liabilities 294,619 285,058
Hiremuzs Other comprehensive income = - IFFRBIRR Non-current liabilities
HEAE Lease liabilities 10(b) 7 25
— .. % Hit&E Provisions and other liabilities 18 769 689
FERNLE U ZS4E%E Total comprehensive income BRI AL
for the year 10,176 16911 EESH Net assets 293,843 284,344
EFIEEaRE: Representing:
BURFH R A E AR Government's permanent capital 1(a) 13,489 13,489
e o . B EERD Government's contribution 19(a) 5,454 5,454
10 2 44 HRTENEE BiE i ISR —E oy o NG Capital reserve 12 12
The notes on pages 10 to 44 form part of these financial statements. BREEIER Accumulated surplus 160,392 157,788
FEEN TS Housing Capital Works Fund 20 74,402 63,054
BEEE Development Fund 21 40,094 44,547
293,843 284,344
] RE N s Winnie HO
BRFEZEGTH Chairman of the Hong Kong Housing Authority
202549 H 12 H 12 September 2025
%510 % 44 HFTETEE R s (I B ERERA— 5y o
The notes on pages 10 to 44 form part of these financial statements.
-5- -6-




ERFRZERY
BZE 2025 £ 3 A 31 HILFERFEERER
BB EETTAIIR)
HONG KONG HOUSING AUTHORITY
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
(Expressed in millions of Hong Kong dollars)

BURFHY BURFHY =N BREEX
KAEA i) ffH  REAZEE  LEEE  #EAS HawH
Government's Housing
permanent  Government's Capital Accumulated Capital Development
capital contribution  reserve surplus Works Fund Fund Total
2023 4 A 1 HEEER Balance at 1 April 2023 13,489 5,454 12 165,728 49,892 33,385 267,960
FEAN LU AR Total comprehensive income
for the year - - 16,911 - 16,911
T T ERTHILLF] Dividend to the Government
for the year - - (527) - (527)
g Transfers - - (24,324) 13,162 11,162 -
2024 42 3 A 31 H4E6%  Balance at 31 March 2024 13,489 5,454 12 157,788 63,054 44,547 284,344
2024 £ 4 A 1 HEEER Balance at 1 April 2024 13,489 5,454 12 157,788 63,054 44,547 284,344
FENE UL AEEE Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - 10,176 - - 10,176
FR T EHTHIELF] Dividend to the Government
for the year - - - (677) - - (677)
i Transfers - - - (6,895) 11,348 (4,453) -
2025423 A 31 H4E6%  Balance at 31 March 2025 13,489 5,454 12 160,392 74,402 40,094 293,843

510 £ 44 HPTHINEE RS i B R iy—a o -

The notes on pages 10 to 44 form part of these financial statements.

ERFEZRY
BZE 202543 B 31 HIEFENHERER
CUBREETTASR)
HONG KONG HOUSING AUTHORITY

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

(Expressed in millions of Hong Kong dollars)

2025 2024
Ffeat
Note
HEEHHRESRE Cash flows from operating activities
FEANEER Surplus for the year 10,176 16,911
%L Adjustments for:
BEEBA Investment income 4(c) (3,095) (3,922)
HEEEFEZWN Interest expense on lease liabilities 1 2
Yzt ~ ISR GRS Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 5,611 5,390
B AR Amortisation of intangible assets 162 169
([FEREEENTTE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 25 26
EEHEELEFI BT EREE Written down value of Tenants Purchase Scheme
flats sold 27 23
BT ARE Adjustment of capital expenditure 13 3
HEEAT BEEBEE R Decrease in Home Purchase/Home Assistance Loans 5 5
BERETBEXEIERE Decrease in impairment allowance for Home

BEFATRD Purchase/Home Assistance Loans 3) 3)
B A B & BB AL ()Y Increase in subsidised sale flats (Domestic)

B0 properties under development (5,185) (5,639)
FENEE), B (Increase)/Decrease in inventories (2,767) 4274
DUASHEZINRAVZEZRATRCD,/ (1) Decrease/(Increase) in securities at fair value 1,990 (121)
JREBTBRTE ~ TR R AN EA e R THAY Decrease in debtors, prepayments and other

N receivables 198 39
JERIMRIA ~ Fe< FIEA FERT RN (Decrease)/Increase in creditors, deposits and

(B, /180 other payables (504) 2,038
P R H At & BRI, CRD) Increase/(Decrease) in provisions and other liabilities 62 (1)

KRB E R SIS Net cash from operating activities 6,714 19,194

% 10 F 44 HEEfEE RS i B R —Hor -

The notes on pages 10 to 44 form part of these financial statements.
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HONG KONG HOUSING AUTHORITY

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 (Continued)
(Expressed in millions of Hong Kong dollars)

RREHNRS R
SNEHSTFAITRD ., (M)

Cash flows from investing activities

Decrease/(Increase) in placements
with the Exchange Fund
JEFEHAE B 3 (&8 7 DA ISR TR Decrease/(Increase) in bank deposits with
W ()
HRAETHRAEA TR /SHEEIRK

original maturities over 3 months

Payments relating to capital works/projects
in progress

FEALHEERE New public rental housing
HENLHEERE Redeveloped public rental housing
B EENMEEE) Subsidised sale flats (Commercial)
FEZEGIER Housing Authority offices
R Motor vehicles
B ERSYS & Computer systems and equipment
= AR Improvement works
ELHIFE Interest received
EMAE R Dividends received
iZ)ie g = O A e Net cash used in investing activities
MEEHNRERE Cash flows from financing activities
AT T BURHIALA] Dividend paid to the Government
THE SRR Payments of lease liabilities
AR & EEE &S Net cash used in financing activities
ERBEEH RS R EFHRE Effect of exchange rate changes on
i0)-2: cash and cash equivalents
BHe RERRSHM, (BD) Net increase/(decrease) in cash and
REH cash equivalents
FUNHERERRSE Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year
FRNBHSRERRS Cash and cash equivalents at end

of year

510 F 44 HFEIEE RS i B RERN —ah -

The notes on pages 10 to 44 form part of these financial statements.

2025 2024
B
Note

1,051 (1,437)
11,079 (10,441)
(11,145) (8,815)
(1,419) (1,179)
(1,300) (1,114)
(80) (115)
@ (1)
(162) (172)
904) (800)

2,420 2,331

150 127
(311) (21,616)
(723) (479)
(27) (27)
(750) (506)

2 -
5,655 (2,928)

2,659 5,587

16 8,314 2,659

EREEZEY

F 5 R M
HONG KONG HOUSING AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FINANCIAL ARRANGEMENTS WITH THE
GOVERNMENT

The Hong Kong Housing Authority (the Authority) was established as a
statutory body in April 1973 under the Housing Ordinance (Cap.283). It
exercises its powers and discharges its duties under the Ordinance so as to
secure the provision of housing and such amenities ancillary thereto as it
thinks fit. Following enactment of the Housing (Amendment) Ordinance
1988 and implementation of the Authority's re-organisation, the financial
arrangements between the Government and the Authority came into effect
on 1 April 1988. A Supplemental Agreement to the 1988 Financial
Arrangements was effective from 1 October 1994, and further revisions
have also been made thereafter in respect of new initiatives in the provision
of housing. The salient features of the financial arrangements are as
follows:

(2)

(b)

©

()

Government’s non-interest bearing permanent capital

A sum of HK$13,489 million representing that element of the
permanent capital originating from the capitalisation of loans from
the former Development Loan Fund has been converted into
non-interest bearing permanent capital with effect from
1 October 1994.

Government’s contribution

The Government’s contribution to domestic housing and
non-domestic equity included in the accounts is shown in
Note 19(a).

The land value for the domestic element of public rental housing,
the difference between the land value (at full market value) and the
land cost charged by the Government for the domestic element of
the Home Ownership Scheme (HOS), Buy Or Rent Option Scheme
(BRO), Tenants Purchase Scheme (TPS) and Green Form
Subsidised Home Ownership Scheme (GSH), and the land value for
the non-domestic elements in rental estates and HOS, BRO and GSH
courts (i.e. carparks and commercial facilities) are not included in
the accounts but included as memorandum entries in Note 19(b).

Dividend to the Government

The overall surplus arising from the operation of non-domestic
facilities in rental estates and HOS/BRO/GSH courts are to be
shared equally between the Authority and the Government and
distributed to the Government in the form of dividend.

Contingent liabilities for the Home Ownership Scheme and the
Private Sector Participation Scheme

The Authority took over since 1 April 1988 from the Government
the contingent liabilities for mortgage default guarantees in respect
of flats built under the HOS and the Private Sector Participation
Scheme (PSPS) (Note 23(a)), and for unsold flats and the shortfall
in selling price under the PSPS.

Construction and management of temporary housing and
cottage areas

With effect from 1 April 1988, the Housing Authority has:

(i)  become responsible for meeting expenditure arising from the
development, construction and management of temporary
housing areas and transit centres, and the management of
cottage areas; and

(ii) undertaken clearance, squatter control and maintenance of
facilities provided under Squatter Area Improvement
Programmes, on an agency basis, for the Government which
remains responsible for the funding of these activities.

All temporary housing areas had been demolished by August 2001.
Effective from April 2006, except for the activity on rehousing of
occupants upon clearance, the squatter control and clearance
functions were transferred to the Lands Department.
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FINANCIAL ARRANGEMENTS WITH THE
GOVERNMENT (Continued)

®

(€3]

Housing Capital Works Fund

The Housing Capital Works Fund, established on 1 April 1993 to
separate the funding for the acquisition and/or construction of all the
Authority’s fixed assets and developments of the HOS, has been
expanded to finance the capital costs of major improvement works.
Accordingly, it is split into two accounts, viz. the Construction
Account to cover the construction of housing estates and
developments of the HOS, and the Improvement Account to provide
funds for improving the standard of existing estates and
implementing better community services in the estates.

Each of these two accounts is required to maintain an adequate level
of operating funds - the Construction Account at a level equivalent
to six months’ estimated expenditure, and the Improvement Account
at an annual balance of HK$2 billion.

Development Fund

The Development Fund was established with effect from
1 October 1994 to finance the development of housing and
housing-related projects and infrastructure that would further the
policy of providing adequate and affordable housing for those in
need of housing provision.

With the prior agreement of the Authority, the Government has the
right to pay into the Development Fund such additional sum of
money that might be needed to support the purposes of the Fund.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Basis of preparation of financial statements

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the
Housing Ordinance, the 1988 Financial Arrangements and the 1994
Supplemental Agreement with the Government, and the accounting
policies approved by the Authority.

(i) Measurement basis

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is historical cost except for securities and derivative
financial instruments managed by external fund managers,
which are stated at their fair value as explained in the
accounting policies set out at Notes 2(j) and 2(m).

(ii) Management judgements and estimates

The preparation of the financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and the reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.  The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for
making judgements about carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of the
Authority’s accounting policies that have significant effect on
the financial statements are explained in Note 3.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

(©

Income recognition

The income for the year is accounted for in accordance with the
following accounting policies:

(i)  Rental income

Rental income from properties is brought into account in the
period to which it relates;

(i) Sales and premium income

This includes proceeds from the sale of HOS/GSH flats which
is recognised upon signing of the Deed of Assignment;
proceeds from the sale/resale of flats under the TPS
which is recognised upon signing of the Deed of
Assignment; and premium payments from owners of
HOS/PSPS/BRO/TPS/GSH flats (collectively referred to as
subsidised sale flats) which are recognised as income when
the alienation restrictions on the flats are removed;

(iii) Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method;

(iv) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised on the ex-dividend date;
(v) Fees and charges

Fees and charges are recognised as income when the Authority
satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised
service to a customer, at the amount of consideration to which
the Authority expects to be entitled in exchange for the service;
and

(vi) Income from agency functions and services

Income generated from the agency functions and services of
the Authority is brought into account in the period to which it
relates.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the statement of financial
position at cost less accumulated depreciation. The following
items of property, plant and equipment are utilised in the provision
of public housing services and ancillary commercial facilities:

(i)  Buildings and improvement works

Buildings are classified into three categories:

Rental Premises (excluding Interim Housing)

‘HKHA’

Estates of the present as well as the former Hong Kong
Housing Authority plus additions thereto since 1 April 1973,
including the estates taken over from the Hong Kong Model
Housing Society.

‘HOS(ND)’
Non-domestic premises of the HOS/BRO/GSH.

Estates of the former Resettlement Department including
flatted factories plus additions thereto since 1 April 1973.

Interim Housing

I
Accommodation of transitional nature but the structures may
be permanent.

Others

‘HO’
Head Office buildings.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

©

(@

(e)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(i)  Buildings and improvement works (Continued)

Buildings and improvement works costing HK$500,000 or
more each are recognised as assets on the following bases:

‘HKHA’, ‘HOS(ND)’, ‘HO’ and ‘IH’ - At cost to the
Authority; and

‘RD’ - For those formerly classified as Marks I, II and III
estates and factories (other than factories completed after
31 March 1973), at nil value; for other estates completed
before 1 April 1973, at deemed cost equal to written down
value at 31 March 1973; and for estates completed after
31 March 1973, at cost to the Authority.

(ii) Computer systems and equipment, electronic equipment and
motor vehicles

Computer systems and equipment (including both hardware
and software), electronic equipment and motor vehicles
costing HK$500,000 or more each are recognised as assets at
cost.  For computer systems and equipment, the costs of the
hardware (including its integrated software) and software are
segregated and recognised under “property, plant and
equipment” and “intangible assets” (Note 2(f)) respectively.

While each subsequent expenditure item of HK$500,000 or more
for improvement of an existing item of property, plant and
equipment is added to the carrying amount of the asset if future
economic benefits will flow to the Authority, computer systems and
equipment enhancement costs are not subject to the HK$500,000
capitalisation threshold.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of
property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and its carrying amount and are
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on the date of
retirement or disposal.

Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line basis to allocate the
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment, less its estimated
residual value, if any, over its estimated useful life, as follows:

Expected useful life
(i)  Buildings 50 years

(ii)  All building improvements
and other improvement

The remaining life of the
building upon completion

works of the improvement works
(iii) Computer systems and 5 years

equipment and electronic

equipment

(iv) Motor vehicles 6 to 9 years
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed
annually and adjusted accordingly.

Capital works/projects in progress

This includes expenditure incurred on properties or computer
systems and equipment under development, improvement works
and acquisition of property, plant and equipment, and financed by
the Housing Capital Works Fund and the Development Fund.
When the capital works are completed, the costs are reclassified as
items of “property, plant and equipment” or “intangible assets”.
When the HOS/GSH(Domestic) projects are completed, the related
costs are transferred to “inventories’”. Expenditure on
improvement works costing less than HK$500,000 each is expensed
to the statement of comprehensive income when incurred.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

U]

(9]

Intangible assets

Intangible assets include acquired computer software licences and
capitalised development costs of computer software programs.
Expenditure on development of computer software programs is
capitalised only if the expenditure can be measured reliably, the
programs are technically feasible, future economic benefits are
probable and the Authority intents to and has sufficient resources to
complete development and to use the resulting asset. Otherwise, it
is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as incurred.
The expenditure capitalised includes the direct labour costs and
costs of materials.  Intangible assets are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation.

Amortisation of intangible assets is charged to the statement of
comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the assets’
estimated useful lives of 5 years.

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed
annually and adjusted accordingly.

Land

(i) Land under lease

The Authority has the proper legal title to land in all the
HOS/BRO/GSH non-domestic properties, rental flats of TPS
estates, certain rental housing estates, rental blocks in some
courts, two Head Office buildings at Fat Kwong Street, the
customer service centre at Wang Tau Hom and the office at
Chun Wah Court and Chun Man Court, either by way of
Crown/Government Lease, or under Conditions of Grant or
Exchange.

Leasehold land premiums are up-front payments to acquire
leasehold land or land use right. The premiums are stated at
cost and are depreciated over the period of the lease on a
straight-line basis.

(i) Land under vesting order

For land not under lease, vesting orders have been made by the
Director of Lands, acting on delegated authority from the
Chief Executive, under Section 5 of the Housing Ordinance.
Such vesting orders confer on the Authority full powers of
control and management of the land.

(iii) Land value

The value of land included in Note 19(b) in accordance with
the financial arrangements with the Government (Note 1(b)) is
determined on the following bases:

‘HKHA”’, ‘IH’ and ‘RD’ ! and Government Low Cost
Housing - The land value is based on the assessments made by
the Commissioner of Rating and Valuation using the residual
method of valuation, being either at 1976 levels or at the time
of handover for management where the estate was completed
after 1976.  Where the Commissioner of Rating and
Valuation has not been able to provide a valuation, a
provisional land valuation is made by applying a multiplier to
the provisional rateable value of the estate assessed by the
Commissioner of Rating and Valuation.

‘HOS(Domestic)” - The land value associated with the
domestic element of the HOS/BRO/TPS/GSH is the difference
between the land value (at full market value) and the land cost.

‘HOS(ND) ! - Prior to 1 April 1988, the land for commercial
facilities was valued at the full market value at the date the
land was purchased, and the land for carparks completed
before that date was assessed at nil value. With effect from
1 April 1988, the land value for non-domestic facilities
including commercial facilities and carparks is based on the
assessments made by the Commissioner of Rating and
Valuation at the date of completion of the facilities using the
residual method of valuation.

‘HO’ ! - For one of the Head Office buildings at Fat Kwong
Street, the customer service centre at Wang Tau Hom and the
office building in upper Wong Tai Sin, the land value is based
on assessment made by the Lands Department at the date of
completion of the buildings.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h)

(U]

@

(k)

U]

Leases

A lease is recognised in the statement of financial position as a
right-of-use asset with a corresponding lease liability at the lease
commencement date, except that payments associated with
short-term leases having a lease term of 12 months or less and leases
of low-value assets are charged to the statement of comprehensive
income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

A right-of-use asset is measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation. The right-of-use asset is depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and asset’s
estimated useful life.

The lease liability is measured at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, and subsequently adjusted by
the effect of the interest on and the settlement of the lease liability,
and the remeasurement arising from any reassessment of the lease
liability or lease modification.

Placements with the Exchange Fund

Placements with the Exchange Fund for investment purpose include
the total principal sums and any interest credited but not yet
withdrawn at the reporting date. The balance is measured at
amortised cost.

Investments in securities

Securities managed by external fund managers are measured at fair
value through surplus or deficit as they are managed, evaluated and
reported internally on a fair value basis. Investments in these
securities are initially stated at fair value. At each reporting date,
the fair value is remeasured and any change in fair value is
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Upon
disposal, the difference between the net sale proceeds and the
carrying value is included in the statement of comprehensive
income.

Purchases and sales of investments in securities are accounted for at
trade date.

Other financial assets

Other financial assets are initially recognised at fair value and
thereafter measured at amortised cost less impairment losses
(Note 2(1)), except for the interest-free amount due from the
Government and the interest-free loans made under subsidised home
ownership schemes or where the effect of discounting would be
immaterial. In those cases, they are stated at cost less impairment
losses (Note 2(1)).

Impairment of financial instruments

The Authority measures expected credit losses on financial
instruments (other than debtors), and recognises the corresponding
loss allowances (provision in the case of mortgage default
guarantees) and impairment losses or reversals, based on the change
in credit risk since initial recognition. Expected credit losses are
measured on either of the following bases:

(i) 12-month expected credit losses — these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default events within the
12 months after the reporting date; and

(i) lifetime expected credit losses — these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible default events over the
expected life of the financial instrument.

Loss allowances for debtors are always measured at an amount equal
to lifetime expected credit losses.

At each reporting date, the Authority assesses whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk for financial instruments
since initial recognition by comparing the risk of default occurring
over the remaining expected life as at the reporting date with that as
at the date of initial recognition. The assessment considers
quantitative and qualitative historical information as well as
forward-looking information. A financial asset is assessed to be
credit impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
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Impairment of financial instruments (Continued)

Expected credit losses of a financial instrument are an unbiased and
probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the present value
of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the financial
instrument. A cash shortfall is the difference between the cash
flows due to the Authority in accordance with the contract and the
cash flows that the Authority expects to receive. For a financial
asset that is credit impaired at the reporting date, the Authority
measures the expected credit losses as the difference between the
asset’s gross carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest
rate (for financial assets measured at amortised cost), or at the
current market rate of return for a similar financial asset (for
financial assets stated at cost).

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair
value. At the reporting date, the fair value is remeasured and any
change in fair value is recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income.

Inventories

Inventories consist of unsold HOS/GSH flats, stores and spares.
They are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

The net realisable value of unsold HOS/GSH flats represents the
estimated selling price less the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale. When flats are sold, the carrying amount of those flats is
recognised as an expense in the year in which the related sales
income is recognised.

The cost of stores and spares is mainly determined by the weighted
average cost method. Obsolete stores and spares are written off to
the statement of comprehensive income. When stores and spares
are consumed, the carrying amount of those stores and spares is
recognised as an expense in the year in which the consumption
oceurs.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of bank balances and cash, and
short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, normally having a maturity of three months or less
from the date of acquisition.

Creditors and other financial liabilities

Creditors and other financial liabilities are measured at amortised
cost except for the interest-free amount due to the Government or
where the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In those
cases, they are stated at cost.

Employee benefits

Employee benefits such as wages, salaries and bonuses are
recognised as an expense when the employee has rendered the
service. Obligations on contract-end gratuities payable to contract
staff for services rendered during the year are provided for in the
financial statements.

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Contributions to the schemes under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (“MPFSO”) (Cap. 485) are expensed as
incurred. Pension liabilities for civil servants are discharged by
reimbursement to the Government as part of the civil servants’ staff
costs charged by the Government to the Authority on a monthly
basis.

Foreign currency translation

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated into
Hong Kong dollars using the spot exchange rates at the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies
other than Hong Kong dollars are translated into Hong Kong dollars
using the closing exchange rates at the reporting date. Exchange
gains and losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(s)  Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent
liabilities

(i)  Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer to
make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss the
holder incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
The mortgage default guarantees issued by the Authority in
connection with the sale of subsidised sale flats and in respect
of mortgage loans made by banks and other authorised
financial institutions are a form of financial guarantees.

No deferred income is recognised as the mortgage default
guarantees are issued at nil consideration and their fair value
cannot be reliably measured.

Provisions for mortgage default guarantee payments are
recognised if and when it becomes probable that the holder of
a guarantee will call upon the Authority under the guarantee
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount. For
guarantees without such provisions recognised, the
Authority’s present obligations under the guarantees are
disclosed as contingent liabilities. Impairment for these
mortgage default guarantees is accounted for as described in
Note 2(1).

(ii)  Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities (including
maintenance and minor improvements) when the Authority
has a present obligation as a result of a past event, when it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation, and when a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation. Where the time value
of money is material, the provision is stated at the present
value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.
Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to
reflect the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the present obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of the outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of an outflow of economic benefits is remote.

()  Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Authority if the Authority
has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise
significant influence over the party in making financial and
operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Authority and the
party are subject to common control.

(u) Taxation

According to Section 34(1) of the Housing Ordinance, the Authority
shall, for the purpose of this Ordinance, be exempt from the Inland
Revenue Ordinance (Cap. 112).

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT IN
APPLYING THE AUTHORITY’S ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Rental premises

In management’s view, the Authority uses rental premises for providing
subsidised public housing rather than earning rentals. As a result, they
are accounted for as items of property, plant and equipment instead of
investment properties. For the same reason, management considers that
it is inappropriate to recognise any impairment loss of rental premises
based on their recoverable amount.
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INCOME
2025 2024
BHET HETT
(E¥) CE)
HK$M HK$M
(a) Rental income
Rental housing 23,278 21,466
Commercial properties 3,434 3,073
26,712 24,539
(b) Sales and premium income
Sales of flats 10,649 21,315
Premium on removal of alienation restriction 519 838
11,168 22,153
(¢) Investment income
Interest income from
placements with the Exchange Fund 1,543 1,453
bank deposits 816 1,031
2,359 2,484
Net realised and revaluation gains on securities 615 1,351
Net exchange (losses)/gains on
- securities @31 (41)
- others 2 -
29) (41)
Dividend income from securities 150 128
3,095 3,922
(d) Other income
Fees and charges 168 156
Miscellaneous income 498 278
666 434
Total income 41,641 51,048

Operating Leases Arrangements

The Authority leases out commercial properties under operating leases (except
car-parks). The net book value of the assets subject to operating leases was
HK$10,341 million (2024: HK$10,178 million). The leases typically run for a
period of three years. The rental income received during the year amounted to
HK$2,393 million (2024: HK$2,124 million), including rents based on business

turnover amounting to HK$11 million (2024: HK$24 million).

The future minimum lease income receivable by the

Authority under

non-cancellable operating leases for commercial properties is analysed as follows:

2025 2024

BHET HETT

FE%) CE®)

HK$M HK$M
Within 1 year 1,098 1,037
After 1 year but within 2 years 576 504
After 2 years but within 3 years 327 305
After 3 years but within 4 years 80 178
After 4 years but within 5 years 61 56
After 5 years 33 30
2,175 2,110
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Computer software licences and

system development costs

Cost:
At beginning of year
Additions
Disposals
At end of year

Accumulated amortisation:
At beginning of year
Charge for the year
Written back on disposals
At end of year

Net book value at end of year

LEASES

(a) Right-of-use assets

Premises

Cost:
At beginning of year
Additions
At end of year

Accumulated depreciation:
At beginning of year
Charge for the year'

At end of year

Net book value at end of year

! R RIS A B B B S R B B B

! Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets is included in other recurrent expenditure and expenditure on subsidised sale flats.

=22 =

2025 2024
HETT HETT
CE%) GBE)
HKS$SM HK$M

2,388 2,218

107 171

@ (1)

2,494 2,388

(2,075) (1,907)

(162) (169)

1 1

(2,236) (2,075)

258 313
2025 2024
HET HEIT
&%) (0359
HKS$SM HK$M

107 90

- 17

107 107

(59) (33)

(25) (26)

34 (59

23 48
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10 LEASES (Continued)

(b)

(@

Lease Liabilities

Current
Non-current

The table below shows changes in lease
liabilities, including both cash and non-cash
changes:

At beginning of year
Changes from financing cash flows:
Payments of lease liabilities
Non-cash changes:
Interest expense on lease liabilities
Increase in lease liabilities relating to new leases
At end of year

The remaining contractual maturities of lease
liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows, are shown below:

Within 1 year
After 1 year but within 2 years
After 2 years but within 5 years

Expense items in relation to leases recognised
in the statement of comprehensive income

Interest expense on lease liabilities

Total cash outflow for leases

Lease liabilities

-4 -

2025 2024
BB G
i) )
HKS$SM HK$M
18 26
7 25
25 51
51 59
@ @7)
1 2
- 17
25 51
19 27
19
7
26 53
2025 2024
BEE  HAx
il (B
HKS$M HK$M
1 2
2025 2024
BE  Afc
i) CE)
HK$SM HKSM
27 27




SMNEZES K

i) Current

JERE] Non-current

IER B ARESER R 392.32 {BHIC (2024 ¢
402.83 R L) Hp 200 AT (2024 1220 fRETT)
R REHEEE > 192.32 (BT (2024 © 182.83 {2ATT) A
s HEAE ARIE M AR TR EIF & » 3% EERER B
FEFHESHNER HEHET - B 6 F - fEFREH
M FZEEA BRI EERSD -

SNEESERFISREF 1 AEE - B REINELE
EREHEGEE 6 FHHIFRERERE - ¢ 3 £
BURFAZAE L — 0 PR s (R IR Ay 0%) »
FHUHE = - 2025 fEEE R R BT 44% > 2024 45
F53.7% -

PLACEMENTS WITH THE EXCHANGE FUND

2025 2024
HEJT HETT
(%) &%)
HKSM HK$M
3,679 2,450
35,553 37,833
39.232 40.283

The balance of the placements with the Exchange Fund amounted to
HK$39,232 million (2024: HK$40,283 million), being the total principal
sums of HK$20,000 million (2024: HK$22,000 million) plus
HK$19,232 million (2024: HK$18,283 million) interest credited but not
yet withdrawn at the reporting date. The term of the placements is for a
period of six years from the respective dates of placements. The
Authority shall not demand repayment of the principal sums during the
period of placements.

Interest on the placements is determined in January each year. The rate
is the average annual investment return of the Exchange Fund’s Investment
Portfolio for the past six years or the average annual yield of three-year
Government Bond for the previous year subject to a minimum of zero
percent, whichever is the higher. The interest rate has been fixed at 4.4%
per annum for 2025 and at 3.7% per annum for 2024.

Total
HITT
(&)
HK$M
144
2
(3)
139
(142)
(139)

=

@
@
(2

T 12¢)

i.

HETT
(B

=€ il
ERkEtEl
Home
Assistance
Loan Scheme
(Note 12¢)
HK$M

(Pt

2024
21
1)
20

@n

(20)

1 12b % d)

B
HEEFT
Enhanced

Home
Purchase

Loan Scheme
HETT
(&)
HK$M

ST

i

119
()
117
(119)
(117)

HEEAT
SRR
(FFF5E 122 f d) - (fff
Home
Purchase
Loan Scheme
(Notes 12a & d) (Notes 12b & d)
T
BH)
HK$M

139
3)
134
(139)
(134)

P
Total
HEIT
CB%)
HK$SM

(0]
(0]

(0]

BT
HRkETEl
Home
Assistance
Loan Scheme
BHETT
(i3]
HK$SM

(B 120
(Note 12¢)

2025
20
1
19

(20)

19)

BE
BEERT
SRkETE

(ffsE 12b K2 d)
Enhanced

Home

Purchase
Loan Scheme
HETT
&%)
HK$SM

117
3)
114
(117)
(114)

=Tl

Home
Purchase
HETT
CB%)
HK$M

Loan Scheme
(Notes 12a & d) (Notes 12b & d)

HEREMT

E5K
(ff&E 12a & d)

Impairment loss reversed

At beginning of year
Loan repayments
Loans written off
At beginning of year
Loans written off
At end of year

At end of year
Portion classified as current assets (Note 14)

Impairment allowance for doubtful loans:
Portion classified as non-current assets

Carrying amount at end of year

Gross carrying amount:

1 14)

2
i
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HOME PURCHASE/HOME ASSISTANCE LOANS
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(a)

(b)

(©

@

EEEATEGTE

HEREMESCEREZ G KEREHEE TR
HIREE S R CHEE G ER AR A EEAEE
Pt B a8 Rt fiEEL AT E=EE
FHIHERAL o B RRERH R 20 £
HEEFTEGETHIEN 2002 48 12 H 31 BEL -

EEEEERESGTE

B B EEFTEKETEITY 1995 4F 6 J1 B e -
SR RAEHERR > 7 1995-96 4R 1996-97 4
Ve = el N e o NS N = e s Al 4 (A ]
BATESE - {Eimhs A B A B FARIC - BN
BT AR T HUTHIELIEE - SRy 20 £ -

EREIEGE

ESRAEDNEFETEIF 2003 41 H 2 HfEH - Bt
EVEEFT SGET# 51 SR 2004 427 F 14 H
Bl - BTSSR RIS By 20 &

HEBEREATER

2000-01 4% > rZe @ Bl e s A IR A B2
R - it EB BRI AR T% AT Rk —
FEEGERY 2003 £F 11 A - SCAIEH S -
‘EZGFEIRERNEERERNVCHES
TREREH A 2 BN SR T [EI S AR L R AR S
FHFIE - FEH B ER R - (EtRIACH] ERUERRVE
H LR BB SORI AR - 71 2025 £ 3 F 31 H > 3
AR A AR R A S (R 18) T 2
(2024 : 4E®) -

12

=27 =

HOME PURCHASE/HOME ASSISTANCE LOANS
(Continued)

()

(b)

©

(@

Home Purchase Loan Scheme (HPLS)

The HPLS provides interest-free loans to assist sitting tenants of the
Authority and the Housing Society, and prospective tenants with
established eligibility for public housing to purchase flats in the
private sector as well as those under the Secondary Market Scheme.
The loans are repayable over a period up to a maximum of 20 years.
The HPLS was terminated on 31 December 2002.

Enhanced Home Purchase Loan Scheme

The enhanced HPLS was approved in June 1995 to provide
interest-free loans and subsidies funded by the Development Fund
to the green form applicants who could apply for assistance under
the Scheme during 1995-96 and 1996-97, with a view to
encouraging them to purchase flats and give up their rental flats for
re-allocation. The loans are repayable over the same period as the
bank mortgage taken out on the property, up to a maximum of
20 years.

Home Assistance Loan Scheme (HALS)

The HALS was implemented from 2 January 2003 to replace the
HPLS. The HALS was terminated on 14 July 2004. The
interest-free loans are repayable over a period of up to a maximum
of 20 years.

Sale of Home Purchase Loans

The Authority entered into an agreement with The Hong Kong
Mortgage Corporation Limited (HKMC) in 2000-01 whereby home
purchase loans were sold to the HKMC in tranches. The last
tranche of loan sale was completed in November 2003.  The loans
were sold at par and a monthly interest is payable at rates based on
Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (HIBOR) on the balance of the
portfolio sold after repayment of principal by the borrowers of home
purchase loans. The present value of the estimated future interest
payments was recognised as an expense and a liability when the
loans were sold. As at 31 March 2025, there was no remaining
liability reported under provisions and other liabilities (Note 18)
(2024: Nil).
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INVENTORIES
2025 2024
HET BHHETT
B (0:159)
HK$M HK$M
Stock of unsold HOS/GSH flats 2,946 183
Stock of repurchased HOS/GSH flats 4 -
2,950 183
Stores and spares 1 1
2,951 184

During the year, 3 918 units of HOS/GSH flats were sold (2024: 8 167 units). As at
31 March 2025, the stock balance consisted of 3 064 units (2024: 184 units).

DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

2025 2024

HETT HHETT

B (0=1:59)

HK$M HK$M
Debtors 840 682

Interest receivable from the placements with

the Exchange Fund 426 371
Other interest receivable 85 201
Dividends receivable 10 11
Dividend tax refund receivable 12 11
Unsettled sales and redemption of securities 10 69
Home Purchase/Home Assistance Loans (Note 12) - -
Deposits 66 66
Prepayments 2 4
Lease incentives amortisation 146 455
Derivative financial instruments (Note 25) 6 -
1,603 1,870

INVESTMENTS IN SECURITIES AND BANK DEPOSITS

2025 2024
BHEIT HHETT
B B
HKS$M HK$M
Bank deposits at amortised cost, with
original maturities
not more than 3 months (Note 16) 7,865 2,199
over 3 months 8,744 19,823
16,609 22,022
Securities at fair value
equity securities 7,455 8,861
Total investments 24,064 30,883
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
2025 2024
HET HHETT
%) (0=159)
HK$SM HK$M
Bank balances and cash 449 460
Bank deposits with original maturities not
more than 3 months (Note 15) 7,865 2,199
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement
of cash flows 8,314 2,659

-28 -
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CREDITORS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER PAYABLES

Total
300

BH#TT
HK$M

(%)

JEET
46

FEMT BTG

equity

BEH#TT
(B

Non-
HK$M

2024
domestic

Domestic
housing
BT
()
HK$M

254

et
Total
BHET
(%)
HKSM
300

46

2025
JEEE
FEEEF BFEER
Non-
equity
BHETT
(%)
HKS$SM

domestic

housing
BHETT
(E¥)
HKSM
254

Domestic

(i) Borrowings from the former Development Loan Fund
Cumulative interest-free loans up to 31.3.1976
Interest foregone by Government on loans related to

domestic and non-domestic premises in public rental
housing during the period 1.4.1976 to 31.3.1988

(a) Amount included in the accounts (Note 1(b))

B

7

%

T

I

&7,
b

By

2025 2024
BHEL HETT
(0z:3:59) (&)
HK$M HKSM
Creditors and accruals 4,810 4,413
Unsettled purchases of securities 4 74
Payable for custodian’s and fund
managers’ fees 8 9
Tenants’ deposits 1,760 1,735
Deposits received for sale of
HOS/TPS/GSH flats 3,182 2,846
Other deposits 101 98
Retention money 1,559 1,501
Liquidated damages deductions 128 262
Derivative financial instruments (Note 25) 6 -
11,558 10,938
PROVISIONS AND OTHER LIABILITIES
2025 2024
SiEl FEREy JE FEFE)
i By Ast Hoy oy =5
Non- Non-
Current current Current current
portion portion Total portion portion Total
BHET BHET BHETT BHET BHETT HETT
CE%) %) CE%) ) GBI (&)
HKSM HKSM HK$SM HKSM HK$M HKSM
Provision for employee benefits 1,309 - 1,309 1,374 - 1,374
Provision for maintenance
and minor improvements - 116 116 - 145 145
Rent received in advance 478 - 478 431 - 431
Unamortised income relating
to liquefied petroleum gas 4 33 37 2 7 9
Interest payable on HPLS
loans sold (Note 12(d)) - - o 5 - -
Land cost provisions relating
to sold HOS/GSH flats - 620 620 - 537 537
Residual construction
payment relating to sold and
divested properties 407 - 407 381 - 381
Provision for audit fees 7 - 7 5 - 5
Provision for mortgage
default guarantee payments
(Note 26(b)(v)) 15 - 15 12 - 12
Provision for expected
credit losses on mortgage
default guarantees 89 - 89 103 - 103
Others 8 - 8 8 - 8
2,317 769 3,086 2,316 689 3,005

#

7

=20 =

A FEREFEERIFEEEFE

W HLE RIS,

]

1976 /3 H 31 HiY iR 58
BURFAE 1976 £ 4 B 1 HE 1988 463 31 H

CHRFR(FTEE 1(b))

-
al

GOVERNMENT'S CONTRIBUTION

BUFHIEED
@)
() fEEFREE

19

2,952 2,505 447 2,952

447

w;

1,375 1,226 149 1,375

149

1,226

(ii) Transfer value of Government built estates and staff quarters

(1if) Home Ownership Scheme

a1
1988 4F 3 /1 31 BRI EEORIHOR B M i

=

o

(i) T B I B AT RIS R B 1E S (EE

(i) FBEAHE

Unsold stock of flats and construction in progress at
31.3.1988 transferred from Government

i

-30 -

827
5,454

642

827
4,812

827
5,454

642

827
4,812
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DEVELOPMENT FUND
2025 2024
BEIL HH#IT
(B%) (EH
HK$M HK$M
Balance at beginning of year 44,547 33,385
Transfer (to)/from accumulated surplus (4,453) 11,162
Balance at end of year 40,094 44,547

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Authority had
the following material transactions and outstanding balances with the Government:

2025 2024
BHEIT BT
(H%) CE)
HK$M HK$M
(a) Income received from the Government
Rental income 71 73
Reimbursement of costs of
services provided to the Government 626 580
Supervision on-costs in respect of
Government reimbursable projects 191 124
Other income 10 9
898 786
2025 2024
HET BT
&%) B
HK$M HK$M
(b) Amount due from the Government
Government rent and rates refundable 13 23
Deposits and others 35 17
48 40
2025 2024
HEIT BHE#IT
&%) )
HKSM HKS$M
(¢) Amount due to the Government
Land cost 1,499 2,656
Advance from Government for rental payment 5 2
Payable for Government rates 33 30
Over-recovery on Government funded agency
functions 47 30
Dividend payable 49 95
Others (e.g. company and land searches) 62 52
1,695 2,865
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BAKE

A 2025 ££3 H 31 H» EESREEMEHRENEL
BENRETEEARESS

REARTRE & Capital Works/Projects
AHHEFERE B Public rental housing/GSH
ST EEREEETE] construction projects
[BETEE T E] HOS construction projects
HoAths T Other projects
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

()

(b)

Financial guarantees issued

As at 31 March 2025, the Authority had outstanding mortgage
default guarantees issued in respect of mortgage loans made by
banks and other authorised financial institutions on subsidised sale
flats sold as follows:

(i) HOS/PSPS/BRO/GSH flats sold

Default guarantees for flats built and sold under
HOS/PSPS/BRO/GSH amounted to HK$67,249 million
(2024: HKS$64,267 million) for the primary market and
HK$53,140 million (2024: HK$38,299 million) for the
secondary market. However, it is the Authority’s view that
it will have a financial exposure only if the outstanding
indebtedness of mortgages to banks and other financial
institutions cannot be covered by proceeds from resale of the
flats concerned. = The Authority estimates its financial
exposure to be HK$3,829 million (2024: HK$4,771 million)
for the primary market and HK$5,940 million (2024:
HK$4,853 million) for the secondary market.

(i1) TPS flats sold

Default guarantees for flats sold under TPS amounted to
HK$4.383 million (2024: HK$4,219 million) for the primary
market and HK$7,974 million (2024: HK$5,236 million) for
the secondary market. However, following the rationale in
(i) above and assuming that the properties can be re-sold at the
original selling price for flats within the first 2 years of the
alienation restriction period, at the prevailing TPS price for
flats from the 3rd to the 5th year of such period (less the actual
amount of special credit for primary market flats) and at the
prevailing market price less premium payable after the
alienation restriction period, the Authority estimates it has no
financial exposure (2024: Nil) for the primary market and its
financial exposure for the secondary market is
HK$1,181 million (2024: HK$670 million).

Structural Safety Guarantee

Structural Safety Guarantee (SSG) covers all newly completed
HOS/PSPS/BRO/GSH developments for a period of 10 years
(20 years for Tin Shui Wai area) from the date of completion.
Pursuant to the sale of surplus HOS and PSPS flats in 2007, a SSG
for a period of 10 years (20 years for Tin Shui Wai area) is also
offered to cover each unsold block of these flats from the
commencement date of flat selection period of the first sale phase.
As at 31 March 2025, there were 44 033 units (2024: 37 321 units)
of HOS/PSPS/BRO/GSH flats covered by the SSG. However, the
Authority’s liabilities under the SSG could not be reasonably
ascertained and have not been recognised in the financial statements,
except for the actual repair costs incurred under the SSG. During the
year, such repair costs amounted to HK$0.09 million (2024:
HK$0.5 million).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Authority had the following contractual capital commitments
outstanding at 31 March 2025 not provided for in the financial statements:

2025 2024
H&ET & 7T
(6::3--3) ()
HKS$M HK$M
72,852 45,882
22,678 19,203
2,304 2,253
97,834 67.338
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contracts, at fair value (Note 14)

contracts, at fair value (Note 17)
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DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

2025 2024
HET HETT
(B%) CEH)
HKSM HK$M
6 -
6 -

The forward currency exchange contracts are used for managing the
Authority’s currency exposure and are carried at fair value.  Their
carrying values have been included in “Debtors, deposits and
prepayments” and “Creditors, deposits and other payables”.  These
contracts have a remaining life of not more than 3 months and a total
notional amount of HK$564 million (2024: nil). The notional amounts of
these contracts indicate the volume of outstanding transactions and do not
represent the amounts at risk.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk management is an integral part of the Authority’s financial policies
and processes. The Authority’s Finance Committee advises on financial
policies and oversees the management of funds of the Authority. The
Finance Committee has established a Funds Management Sub-Committee
to advise on the Authority’s funds management policies, strategies,
guidelines, and the appointment and monitoring of external fund managers.
The key financial risk management practices are highlighted below:

(a) Liquidity risk

The Authority’s cash flows are monitored on a daily basis and its
investments are managed with the primary objective of ensuring that
sufficient funds are available to meet capital expenditure and
operational needs.  As the Authority has a strong liquidity position,
it has a very low level of liquidity risk.

(b) Market and credit risks

The Authority’s financial instruments are subject to interest rate
risk, currency risk, equity price risk, other market risk and credit
risk. Comprehensive funds management policy and investment
guidelines are in place to ensure that the exposures to these risks are
monitored and managed prudently on an ongoing basis.

(i) Interest rate risk

The Authority’s interest-bearing assets include mainly bank
deposits which bear interest at fixed rates. The Authority
monitors its interest rate risk with reference to the approved
strategies and benchmarks.  Since bank deposits are all
measured at amortised cost, their carrying amounts and the
Authority’s surplus for the year will not be affected by changes
in market interest rates.

(ii) Currency risk

On currency risk management, the investment guidelines set
limits on currency exposure.

The Authority’s investment assets in currencies other than
Hong Kong dollars are denominated mainly in US dollars with
the remaining in other freely convertible major international
currencies.  When the exchange rates of the relevant
currencies against the Hong Kong dollar fluctuate, the value
of these investment assets expressed in Hong Kong dollar will
vary accordingly.
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Market and credit risks (Continued)
e E b (%) (ii)  Currency risk (Continued)
TR S H R SR The table below summarises the Authority’s currency
exposures at the reporting date:
2025 2024
HE &afE HE =l
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
HET HET HETT HHETT
(&%) CE®) () ()
HKSM HKSM HK$M HK$M
5t US dollars 7,315 162 6,355 53
BT Euro 691 152 695 13
Hftir Others 1,139 68 1,291 11
9,145 382 8,341 77
H A R EBEEEBERNE - Others include mainly currencies of major developed
countries.
SRS SIRET TR T sETE n
PERHE 0.5% (2024 © 0.5%) FHiE /BEiE Sensitivity analysis based on a 0.5% (2024: 0.5%)
A S , s @ p ] increase/decrease in the exchange rate of the US dollar against
27637) i{ﬂg = ZEOZT'%Z%%O %%@] / B the Hong Kong dollar at the reporting date shows that the
600 HATT ( t SABI0) surplus for the year would have increased/decreased by
T e HK$36 million (2024: HK$32 million).
BURNEE AT B - e H BASMB (S5 TThR
IMSURTCHIER R 5% (2024 © 5%) FHiE Sensitivity analysis based on a 5% (2024: 5%)
S HRIER BT » FR RIS increase/decrease in the exchange rates of the foreign
8,000 H A T (2024 : 9,800 HARIT) - currencies other than US dollar against the Hong Kong dollar
at the reporting date shows that the surplus for the year would
Bl U A > Rt H s have increased/decreased by HK$80 million (2024:
HERERE  BERAVEBIE BRI TER & HK$98 million)
FENEMTHE - o .
RfityemTA The above sensitivity analyses have been prepared assuming
that the change in exchange rates had been applied to the
financial instruments in existence at the reporting date, with
all other variables being held constant.
st (8 e (iii) Equity price risk
P o i PR s (i S T 5 | B iy B © Equity price risk is the risk of loss arising from changes in
EE eI AR SR E R R equity prices.  The Authority’s equity investments are
o 2 5 (0 (R B R BT SR D © R subject to equity price risk since the value of these investments
R £ , Pyt g L o will decline if equity prices fall. As at 31 March 2025, all
E{(J)fz }:5 éﬁﬁ;ﬁa j\}\ilé ﬁfff?lei&;\i"jﬁﬂ equity investments were measured at fair value as shown in
HiE AR & BLES Note 15.
SRS TR E%&%’ El}i}iﬁ’i{ﬁ#[—fifﬁ 15% Sensitivity analysis based on a 15% (2024: 15%)
(2024 : 15%) FHiE BRIEHIHERT increase/decrease in equity prices at the reporting date shows
FERNBEGEHM KD 11.18 &I that the surplus for the year would have increased/decreased
(2024 : 13.29 fBHEIT) - BEFHBURTEHTES by HK$1,118 million (2024: HK$1,329 million).  This
Y = ot g5 =% N MO A= (£ sensitivity analysis has been prepared assuming that the
JHE A A R AL AL - change in equity prices had been applied to the equity
D . investments in existence at the reporting date, with all other
variables being held constant.
REW i sp=oE (iv) Other market risk
INEEESFERFEREE 1| HEENER Interest on the placements with the Exchange Fund is subject
FAEE 1) IR ST 2 ot Tl e e 26 - to other market risk arising from changes in the interest rate
URRFE ST » DL 2024 4E Ry 2025 4EH9 A which is determined in January each year (Note 11).
T S0 FERIHIE, Bl VI ZE isnecr;i::is\;i/gecr::sael}i]rsli:he })riiigst r(;:les f?)r 2324 a?1?15i25025p(i\i/?ttl51
£ AR s Al R SEE /> >
ZE%E&@ %’ET. F jéﬁ%:@iiaﬁ[[/ ey all other variables being held constant, shows that the surplus
2.01 {E387T (2024 © 1.98 {RHET) ° for the year would have increased/decreased by
HK$201 million (2024: HK$198 million).
-36-
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26 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Market and credit risks (Continued)

(v) Credit risk

The Authority’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the
reporting date without taking into account any collateral held
or other credit enhancements is shown below:

2025 2024
BHEJT HE T
(E¥%) G )
HKSM HK$M

39,232 40,283

412 379

16,609 22,022

48 40

1,455 1411

132,746 112,021

190,502 176.156

The credit risk associated with the placements with the
Exchange Fund and amount due from the Government is
considered to be low.

With respect to the credit risk of the Authority’s investments,
the Authority’s investment guidelines set limits on credit
rating, individual counterparty exposure and overall
concentration of exposure.

An analysis of the credit quality of the Authority’s bank
balances and bank deposits, based on ratings designated by
Moody’s or their equivalents, is as follows:

2025 2024
HET H & T
CB¥%) B
HKS$M HK$M

4,027 3,717

12,985 18,677

9 7

17,021 22,401

Debtors and deposits mainly include debtors, interest
receivable, unsettled sales and redemption of securities and
deposits. The associated credit risk is minimal.

Home Purchase/Home Assistance Loans are secured by
mortgages on properties.

Mortgage default guarantees are issued in respect of mortgage
loans made by banks and other authorised financial institutions
on subsidised sale flats sold. Those loans are secured by
mortgages on the flats concerned. As at 31 March 2025,
provision for mortgage default guarantee payments amounted
to HK$15 million (2024: HK$12 million, Note 18), and the
financial exposure not provided for in the financial statements
amounted to HK$10,950 million (2024: HK$10,294 million,
Note 23(a)).

While other financial assets are subject to the impairment
requirements, the Authority has estimated that their expected
credit losses are minimal and considers that no loss allowance
is required.
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N202543H31H As at 31 March 2025

BE Assets

Ebs Securities

TR T H Derivative financial
instruments

i=ti Liabilities

Derivative financial
instruments

P T A

#2024 3 31 H As at 31 March 2024

HE Assets

IR Securities

TTESR TR Derivative financial
instruments

=i Liabilities

Derivative financial
instruments

P TR
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FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair values of financial instruments traded in active markets are based
on quoted market prices at the reporting date. In the absence of such
quoted market prices, fair values are estimated using present value or other
valuation techniques, using inputs based on market conditions existing at
the reporting date.

The following table shows the carrying value of financial instruments
measured at fair value at the reporting date according to the fair value
hierarchy:

B 18 g8 & &t
Level 1 Level 2 Total
BHE&T BHET BH&ET
B%) &%) ()
HKSM HKSM HKSM
7,455 - 7,455
- 6 6
7,455 6 7,461
- 6 6
8.861 - 8.861
8,861 - 8,861

No financial instruments were classified under Level 3.

During the year, there was no transfer of financial instruments between
Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy (2024: no transfer between
levels).

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are:

Level 1: Fair values of financial instruments are quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2: Fair values of financial instruments are determined involving
inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or
indirectly (derived from prices); and

Level 3: Fair values of financial instruments are determined with inputs
that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs).
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